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About this report
This annual report details State Trustees Limited’s business performance  
for the 2013/14 financial year. 

It also reviews performance against strategic objectives and records financial 
performance in accordance with the State Trustees (State Owned Company)  
Act 1994 and other regulatory requirements.

Additional copies of the annual report (including large print format on request)  
are available from www.statetrustees.com.au or by phoning State Trustees  
on (03) 9667 6444 or 1300 138 672.



About State Trustees
State Trustees is the Public Trustee for Victoria.  
State Trustees and its predecessors have been serving 
the Victorian community for 75 years and have an even 
longer history dating back to the 1860s of involvement in 
administering deceased estates and managing the financial 
and legal affairs of people who are unable to do so due to 
disability, mental illness or other circumstance.

State Trustees was a statutary corporation within  
the Victorian public sector before it became a state 
government owned company in 1994. Today, State Trustees 
operates as a commercialised entity generating the bulk  
of its income from trust and deceased estate administration. 

Purpose 
To help Victorians with their financial needs so they can make 
the most of their opportunities. 

Vision 
To be relevant, accessible and valued in the hearts and minds 
of Victorians. 

Values 

Wholehearted – committed, caring and united 

Acting as one business with a clear purpose, ensuring 
our clients’ interests and those of the broader Victorian 
community are at the heart of everything we do. 

Understanding – empathetic and compassionate 

Understanding client needs and demonstrating this by 
delivering empathy and compassion into every relationship. 

Commercial – professional, expert and client driven 

Recognising that we operate in a commercial world.  
Being client focused, delivering expert and professional advice 
in all areas of the business, ensuring sustainable profitability 
and growth. 

Integrity – ethical and trusted 

Always applying an ethical approach and creating 
relationships with all clients, colleagues and stakeholders  
built on trust and honesty. 

Role
The main functions of State Trustees outlined in the State 
Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994 are to provide 
Victorians with:

• Trustee services for government and individuals;

• Personal administration services;

• Deceased estate administration;

•  Specialised legal, financial and tax services including  
Will writing, establishing Enduring Power of Attorneys,  
financial planning, managing compensation funds, 
genealogy services and Trust administration; and

• Funds management services and investment products.

Community Service Agreement
A Community Service Agreement has been in place between 
State Trustees and the State Minister for Human Services 
since 1994. 

The agreement provides a reimbursement for some of the 
costs of administering the legal and financial affairs for those 
clients who would otherwise not have the funds to access 
these services, including Victorians who die intestate. 

The Community Service Agreement applies to those services 
which are statutorily nominated, including tribunal appointed 
financial administration and deceased estate administration 
as well as some funding for vulnerable Victorians to access 
Attorneyship and Trust Administration services.

Services
State Trustees offers the following products and services  
to Victorians.

•  Deceased Estate Administration including intestacy  
and administrators of last resort.

•  Financial administration (voluntary and tribunal appointed) 
for nearly 10,000 Victorians.

•  Will preparation and secure storage of Will and Enduring 
Power of Attorneys documents. 

•  Enduring Power of Attorneys preparation for financial, 
medical treatment and guardianship. 

•  Trust preparation and administration for more than  
2500 Trusts with more than 7000 beneficiaries.

•  Administration of the State Trustees Australia Foundation 
Charitable Trust.

•  Provision of a comprehensive range of ancillary services  
for clients including: 

- funds management; 

- maximising Australian and overseas pension entitlements;

- funeral funds;

- taxation services; 

- financial planning;

- client legal representation and litigation;

-  property management, including sale, leasing, 
maintenance, cleaning and property related asset 
management; and 

- genealogical searches. 
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Operating environment
State Trustees is a state government owned company and 
operates as a corporation, registered with the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC). 

As a registered state government business and the holder  
of an Australian Financial Services License, the Company  
is required to comply with several key pieces of legislation: 

• State Owned Enterprises Act 1992; 

• State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994; 

• Guardianship and Administration Act 1986; and 

• Corporations Act 2001. 

 
The Victorian State Treasurer is the sole beneficial  
shareholder of the company. State Trustees reports through 
to the Treasurer of Victoria, via the Victorian Department  
of Treasury and Finance. 

Board
State Trustees is governed by a Board of Directors,  
appointed by the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the State 
of Victoria. The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance 
to the Company within a framework of prudent and effective 
controls that enables risk to be assessed and managed. 

Executive 
The Board has delegated responsibility for operating and 
administering State Trustees to the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and Executive Team. The CEO and Executive Team 
authority to act is described in a formal instrument of 
delegated authority. 

Organisational Structure (as at 30 June 2014)

Board
(see Directors’ Report)

CEO

Craig Dent

Chief Financial Officer

Paul Manning

Chief Information Officer

Geoff Purcell

General Manager Client Services

Melanie Lewis

General Manager Operations

Angela Burton

General Manager People and Culture

Michelle Johnston

General Manager Strategy, Innovation and Transformation

John Brennan*

Company Secretary 

Agata Jarbin

*role ceased 30 June 2014

Performance to plan
State Trustees’ financial year operations were based  
on the 2013/14 Corporate Plan accepted by the Treasurer.  
Key performance indicators are measured through client 
feedback and financial performance.

Client feedback
Each year State Trustees gathers client feedback across  
Retail and Personal Financial Administration (PFA) services  
via the Client Value Index (CVI) survey.

In 2013/14, feedback was sought from 266 PFA clients  
and their support networks, and 1008 retail clients about  
their experience with State Trustees, and performance  
against expectations.

The overall result is a weighted combination of retail and 
personal financial administration scores. The target of 68.8% 
was exceeded slightly with a result of 69.9%. 

Financial results
The profit before tax was $4.709m (2013: $1.569m).  
This result is $605k (14.7%) ahead of budget. The profit  
after tax was $3.673m (2013: $1.092m) and is ahead  
of the budgeted profit of $2.872m. The strong profit result 
reflects a year where revenue challenges have been offset  
by tight cost control.

Despite full year revenue of $62.423m (2013: $65.511m) 
slightly lower than the previous financial year, savings from 
efficiencies and the Business Transformation Program have 
had a material impact on the full year result. 
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CEO report
We are looking forward to continuing our client centric journey of excellence and to realising the vision  
of being a world leading trustee organisation – Craig Dent, CEO.

Over the past two years State Trustees has undertaken  
a significant transformation program focused on improving 
client outcomes, enhancing systems and processes, 
developing our people and changing the inherent culture  
of the organisation. 

The program has seen 60 projects delivered that  
have improved service delivery and client experience,  
improving the organisation’s profitability whilst creating 
a platform for State Trustees to be a world leading trustee 
company into the future. 

Core to this transformation and to the future success of the 
company is a commitment to placing our clients at the centre 
of all decisions we make on their behalf. We are excited to see 
this happening each and every day. Our clients are benefiting 
from easier contact, improved systems and processes,  
new products and much stronger transparency and 
accountability throughout the organisation. 

New CEO 
This program was started by my predecessor, Tony Fitzgerald 
and as the first new CEO in 10 years, I have had the privilege 
of seeing the program through to its completion this year. 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank Tony for his 
commitment to the organisation over 11 years and for having 
the courage to start such an ambitious program, which has 
seen every part of our business reviewed for improvement 
opportunities, efficiency savings and service improvements. 

Footscray move draws near 
During July 2014, we will see the finalisation of our 
regionalisation strategy with the relocation of our Head Office 
in July 2014 from Exhibition Street, Melbourne to a new  
state-of-the-art building at 1 McNab Avenue, Footscray.

New Chair
State Trustees has also welcomed a new Chair, Dino Georgiou, 
and farewelled Julie Elliott who commenced as a Director 
six years ago and served as Chair for five-and-a-half years. 
Julie has made a significant contribution to State Trustees 
and to the overall enhancement of our organisation, I would 
like to also thank Julie for her commitment to State Trustees 
throughout her six year service. I look forward to working  
with the Board under Dino’s leadership.

New Corporate Strategy 
The next phase of State Trustees’ development  
includes innovation and continuous improvement,  
enhanced customer service delivery and becoming  
a world leading trustee organisation.

World leading trustee organisation 
As our focus changes to continual business improvement, 
commercial growth and customer innovation, investment in 
our digital strategy will become increasingly important over 
the next two years. This will give rise to a further improvement 
in our client’s experience and support of an innovative  
and collaborative workforce. We look forward to continuing 
our client centric journey of excellence and to realising  
the vision of being a world leading trustee organisation.

Craig Dent 
Chief Executive Officer
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Chair report
State Trustees has an exciting future as it develops 
into a commercially sustainable organisation  
with a focus on service excellence and innovation for 
all Victorians – Dino Georgiou, Chair.

New CEO 
The Board’s primary focus for 2013/14 has been on recruiting 
a new CEO and developing a new strategy that supports the 
organisation’s vision to become a world leading  
trustee company.

The 2013/14 financial year has been a year of substantial 
change for State Trustees. I would like to thank outgoing 
Managing Director Tony Fitzgerald who left the organisation 
late last year after more than a decade with the company. 
Tony helped create the framework which has enabled the 
organisation to deliver its substantial transformation agenda 
this financial year. 

New Chair and Board members 
I would also like to thank former Chair Julie Elliott who retired 
from the Board on 4 June 2014 after six years as Director, and 
more than five years as Chair. Julie played a key role in the 
recruitment of our new CEO and provided valuable transitional 
support with the introduction of three new Directors in 2013: 
Christopher Martin, Pamela Mitchell and Sue O’Connor.

Operational savings strong 
State Trustees is projecting to return a total dividend of 
$1.837m relating to the period 2013/14. This is a result 
better than originally forecast, and was largely driven through 
operational savings. Going forward, the organisation needs a 
stronger focus on revenue growth to ensure the organisation 
can continue to invest in service enhancements to meet the 
changing needs and expectations of all Victorians. 

Future focus 
The new strategy will be introduced in 2014/15 with a 
stronger focus on product development, improved customer 
service delivery and numerous digital enhancements 
to support a highly functioning work environment. The 
underlying Corporate Plan will deliver enhanced transparency, 
competitiveness and innovation of the organisation.

While there are still challenges ahead, I firmly believe 
State Trustees has an exciting future as it develops into a 
commercially sustainable organisation with a focus on service 
excellence and innovation for all Victorians. 

Dino Georgiou 
Chair

In the community
State Trustees engages with the community via a program 
of educational activities, sponsorships and seminars across 
Victoria each year. 

CONNECTED Art Exhibition
The State Trustees CONNECTED Art Exhibition® is an annual 
exhibition for emerging Victorian artists with a disability  
or experience of mental illness to showcase and sell  
their work.

Held at Federation Square, the exhibition celebrated  
its 11th year with 171 artworks shortlisted from 620  
entries. More than 1400 people visited the exhibition  
with nearly 100 works sold. 

Congratulations to first prize winner Ray Tarrant, second  
prize winner Cassie Lupo, third prize winner Jenny Ngo,  
People’s Choice winner Justine Martin and Office of the  
Public Advocate prize winner Christa Soames.

Victorian Seniors Festival
State Trustees is a primary sponsor of the Victorian Seniors 
Festival with hundreds of events held across Victoria.  
State Trustees provided Will education talks at the festival 
hub in Melbourne, sponsored Country Concert series across 
the state and provided a special offer to encourage Victorians 
aged 60+ to prepare or update their Will.

Education and Advocacy
New education resources were introduced to encourage 
Victorians to prepare Enduring Power of Attorneys and  
Wills including webinars, videos, planning ahead life guides  
and an asset calculator.

State Trustees contributed to the Victorian Government’s 
succession law and Enduring Power of Attorneys review and 
developed new resources to encourage greater community 
awareness of financial elder abuse. 

State Trustees participated in the National Disability Insurance 
Scheme Barwon trial site and has worked with Public Trustees 
and the Financial Services Council on a number of other 
initiatives including the National Guardianship Standards 
being introduced on 1 July 2014.

State Trustees Australia Foundation
State Trustees operates the State Trustees Australia 
Foundation, a public charitable Trust primarily funded through 
bequests. The foundation provides grants to community 
organisations. The most recent grants program provided 
more than $230k for 26 projects across Victoria, bringing the 
total to more than $2m in grants for 250 projects since the 
foundation was established 20 years ago.
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Corporate governance statement
State Trustees is committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.

State Trustees’ core governance practices are consistent  
with the Victorian Government’s ‘Good practice guide  
on governance for Victorian public sector entities’.

For ease of reporting, governance practices are presented 
through five key corporate public sector governance 
principles. Unless otherwise stated, these practices have  
been in place for the full financial year.

ACCOUNTABILITY
Corporate structure

State Trustees reports to the Government of Victoria through 
the Department of Treasury and Finance. The State of Victoria 
is the sole shareholder. 

State Trustees has a Board of Directors, whose members are 
appointed by the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of the State  
of Victoria. 

Through the Board of Directors, State Trustees reports  
to the Treasurer as the State of Victoria’s representative.

Communication with shareholder

Communication with the Shareholder includes:

•  Quarterly reporting on financial performance,  
any significant variations from the Corporate Plan,  
business risks, and general business issues;

•  Responding to questions arising from the quarterly 
reporting either as ad hoc reports or in direct meetings  
with the Treasurer or his representatives;

•  Financial statements, Directors’ reports, and the Auditor’s 
reports as required by the Corporations Act 2001;

•  Any reports requested by the Auditor-General  
or Ombudsman; and

• Responses to questions from Members of Parliament.

Executive reporting lines

CEO Craig Dent leads State Trustees. At the end of the 
reporting period he had five general managers as direct 
reports. This group, known as the Executive Team,  
meets formally each week and informally as required.

TRANSPARENCY AND OPENNESS
Legislation establishing the entity

State Trustees Limited was established as a result of the  
State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994. The State  
Trust Corporation of Victoria was its predecessor.

State Trustees is a company under the Corporations Act 2001 
and a trustee company under the Trustee Companies Act 1984.

Corporate Plan

Our Corporate Plan from 2013/14 had a sharper focus  
on whole of business transformation. The plan is described  
across four strategic themes:

•  Growth – To achieve growth in executor and  
professional services.

•  Client Service – To provide a service that delivers value  
to our clients, stakeholders and the community, aligned 
with market and community standards.

•  People & Culture – To create and sustain a workforce 
culture that supports our target operating model with a  
key focus to embed accountability and leadership capability  
in our teams.

•  Business Sustainability – To ensure our business 
fundamentals are sustainable by providing efficient  
and effective services allowing us the capacity to grow.

State Trustees’ plan developed for 2014/15 includes  
a much stronger framework to support commercial growth, 
product development, digital investment and customer focus.

Governance structure

State Trustees’ governance structure is driven by three  
pieces of legislation: the State Owned Enterprises Act 1992, 
the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994 and the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Although State Trustees is a commercial Government Business 
Enterprise (GBE), we are also driven by the accountabilities  
of private sector organisations. Accordingly, our governance  
is influenced by both private company and public  
entity principles.

Competitive neutrality

State Trustees is a public financial enterprise within the 
meaning of the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria 2012 
prepared by the Department of Treasury and Finance. State 
Trustees pays the full suite of Commonwealth and State taxes 
or tax equivalents.

Remuneration policies

Principles used to determine remuneration

State Trustees bases its executive remuneration packages  
on the principle of reward for performance. Our remuneration 
framework, from the Government Sector Executive 
Remuneration Panel (GSERP), aims to align executive  
reward with achieving strategic objectives and creating  
value for our shareholder.

Our Senior Executives’ pay and reward framework has  
two key components:

•  Base remuneration is structured as a total employment 
cost package, and can be delivered as a mix of cash, 
superannuation, and prescribed non-financial benefits  
at the Executives’ discretion; and

•  Executives are offered a base pay comprising the fixed 
packages of pay and rewards, which is no more than  
80% of the Chief Executive Officer’s base salary  
(as determined by GSERP).
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External remuneration consultants provide advice on whether 
our Executives’ base pay reflects the financial services 
market for a comparable role. The Remuneration Committee 
reviews Senior Executives’ base pay annually to compare 
competitiveness with the financial, legal and trustee services 
markets. There are no guaranteed base pay increases fixed  
in any Senior Executives’ contracts.

Short-term incentives are available to each Executive 
depending on the role accountabilities and impact on 
organisational and business unit performance. Senior 
Executives can receive a bonus of up to 20% of total base 
remuneration, which the Remuneration Committee approves.

Integrity
Reporting quality

Relevant legislation and accounting standards guide State 
Trustees’ financial reporting.

While State Trustees Limited is a state goverment owned 
company numerous stakeholders who are interested in our 
ethics and performance. Key to all our activities are the safety 
and security of our funds under trust for both represented 
people and the broader public.

We inform stakeholders of our effectiveness in achieving 
these goals in a range of ways including through our Annual 
Report, which we produce in hard copy and make available 
online at www.statetrustees.com.au. We also provide a  
bi-annual magazine and targeted communication to  
clients and stakeholders throughout the year.

Our employees, who are major stakeholders in the provision 
of services to our clients, are continually updated on our 
performance. Employees attend quarterly presentations  
given by the Executive Team and receive regular updates  
via the organisations’ intranet.

Code of Conduct

State Trustees is committed to operating ethically and has a 
Code of Conduct to communicate how we expect employees 
to act with honesty and integrity at all times.

The Code of Conduct contains specific clauses relating to 
confidentiality, email and information technology, conflict 
of interest, and personal behaviour. It expressly addresses 
dealing with breaches and non-compliance with the Code.

Confidentiality

Employees are expected to maintain and respect the 
confidentiality and privacy of clients’ personal and  
financial information. Employees must not use or disclose 
any confidential information for any unauthorised purpose, 
including for personal use or to benefit a third party.  
An essential part of employment arrangements is adherence 
to the Code of Conduct.

When dealing with represented persons’ affairs,  
employees must adhere to the secrecy obligations set out 
in section 17 of the State Trustees (State Owned Company) 
Act 1994. State Trustees is also subject to other privacy 
obligations that include the Privacy Act 1988, Information 
Privacy Act 2000 and Health Records Act 2001.

Conflict of interest

In accordance with the Code of Conduct, employees are 
required to take care to avoid actual or apparent conflicts  
of interest between their private affairs and State Trustees’ 
business. Conflicts of interest are situations where an 
employee has a personal interest that may influence (or even 
appear to influence) the way they perform their official duties.

The Code of Conduct is regularly reviewed with input from 
Legal, Compliance and People and Culture business units  
to reference updated and emerging issues and cross reference 
other policies from which conflict issues can arise.

All new employees receive a copy of the Code of Conduct 
during their induction training. It is also available on the 
intranet, and employees are required to confirm electronically 
that they have read and understood it. At that time, we also 
give employees the opportunity to ask questions in relation  
to any aspect of the Code they don’t understand.

Protected Disclosures Act 2012

State Trustees reviewed its policies and procedures to  
reflect the repeal of the Whistleblower Protection Act 2001  
and the enactment of the Protected Disclosures Act 2012.  
State Trustees’ Protected Disclosure procedures are available 
via the State Trustees website: www.statetrustees.com.au.

State Trustees is not a body that can receive disclosures 
of improper conduct under the Protected Disclosures Act 
2012.  State Trustees is, however, a body in respect of which 
disclosures of improper conduct can be made. A person 
wanting to make a disclosure of improper conduct about  
State Trustees or its officers or employees must do so  
to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption  
Commission (IBAC).

State Trustees is committed to the aims and objectives  
of the Protected Disclosures Act 2012.  State Trustees does  
not tolerate officers or employees at any level acting 
improperly at any time, nor does it tolerate the taking  
of reprisals of any sort against those who come forward  
to disclose improper conduct. 

IBAC Contact Details

Phone: 1300 735 135 
Fax: (03) 8635 6444 
Mail: IBAC, GPO BOX 24234,  
MELBOURNE, VIC, 3000 
Web: www.ibac.vic.gov.au

Environmental activities

State Trustees has recently relocated its head office to 
Footscray (effective 21 July), into a 5 Star Green Star rated 
facility. Facilitated by the Green Building Council of Australia 
(GBCA), the aim of the Green Star program is developing  
a sustainable property industry for Australia by encouraging 
the adoption of green building practices. The key objectives 
of the program are to drive the transition of the Australian 
property industry towards sustainability by promoting 
green building programs, technologies, design practices 
and operations as well as the integration of green building 
initiatives into mainstream design, construction and 
operation of buildings.

Throughout the construction, design and fit out, a number  
of criterion were followed to ensure State Trustees meets 
GBCA standards. 

State Trustees Annual Report 20148



Design elements criteria:

•  One person is equivalent to 15 square metres, meaning  
all design elements have been designed accordingly;

• Lights are installed per square metre of office space;

• Volume of air is measured per square metre of office space;

•  Volume of power usage is measured per square metre  
of office space;

•  Use of alternate sources of energy to power the building 
(generators/solar panels/water tanks, wind turbines);

• Integrated base building construction/internal fit;

• Light senses are installed instead of switches;

•  Installed sensory air-conditioning which runs  
off temperature gauges;

• Daylight indicators are used to turn lights off automatically;

• Waterless urinals are in male bathrooms;

• Automatic water taps are in all bathrooms;

•  The site re-harvests sprinkle water (which is deployed 
during weekly fire testing)

• All toilets use recycled water; and

•  Mechanical systems are low velocity (i.e. underfloor heating 
and cooling for habitable zones only).

Construction:

•  Limited waste throughout the construction period with  
80% recycled from construction to finish; and

•  Limited use of environmentally harmful products (PVC, VOC, 
glues/paints that give off noxious fumes and formaldehyde).

Fit out:

•  All chairs/furniture/desk purchased and implemented 
during fit out are GBCA approved (during furniture 
manufacturing, 5 star green star regulations apply)

•  The building will continue to be fine-tuned including energy 
use (heating/cooling/lighting/water); and

•  The building is reassessed after 12 months to determine  
the ongoing green star rating.

Tenancy:

• Every piece of waste State Trustees generates is monitored;

• Recycling facilities are provided and monitored; and

•  A State Trustees representative participates in the Green 
Building Council of Australia (GBCA) meetings to monitor 
usage of resources and waste generation.

State Trustees has also implemented a number of other 
initiatives across its offices, including:

•  Having a motor vehicle fleet comprising of 35%  
hybrid vehicles;

•  Using laser printers and multi-function printers/copies  
with energy saving features;

• Maintaining paper and waste recycling systems;

• Providing dual-flush cisterns in bathrooms;

•  Computers have in-house developed auto-off energy saving 
control software; and

•  Undertaking a cartridge recycling program for all printer 
and photocopier toners.

State Trustees is committed to ensuring it is an 
environmentally sustainable organisation.

Stewardship
State Trustees’ main functions

State Trustees’ main functions, established under the  
State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994, are to  
provide Victorians with:

• Trustee services for government and individuals;

• Personal administration services;

• Deceased estate administration;

•  Specialised legal, financial and tax services including  
Will writing, establishing Enduring Power of Attorneys, 
Financial Planning, managing compensation funds, 
Genealogy Services and Trust Administration; and

• Funds management services and investment products.

Represented persons

The VCAT Guardianship List appoints State Trustees as an 
administrator for the legal and financial affairs of people who 
are deemed unable to make reasonable judgments in respect 
of their affairs due to disability or mental illness.

State Trustees currently administers the financial and  
legal affairs of approximately 9500 represented people,  
managing their assets with a cumulative value in excess  
of $1b.

VCAT’s Guardianship List started in July 1998, replacing the 
former Guardianship and Administration Board. The Tribunal 
and the Office of the Public Advocate both play a crucial role 
in determining whether a person needs an administrator.

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment  
of an administrator. They may nominate a person such as a 
family member, friend, accountant, solicitor, State Trustees  
or a private trustee company who they consider could 
undertake the role. The Public Advocate may also apply  
to the Tribunal to appoint a guardian or administrator  
or to review appointment arrangements.

In cases where the applicant doesn’t nominate an 
administrator, or VCAT considers the nominee unsuitable  
- for example, where there is significant family conflict - VCAT 
may appoint State Trustees or another suitable administrator.

Subject to the Guardianship and Administration Act 1986  
and the administration order, an administrator:

•  Is responsible for managing the represented  
person’s estate;

•  Takes possession and care of, recovers, collects, preserves, 
and administers the property and estate, and generally 
manages the represented person’s financial and legal 
affairs; and

•  Exercises all rights relating to the estate that the 
represented person might exercise if they had  
legal capacity.
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In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires 
administrators to act in the represented person’s best 
interests. As administrator, State Trustees takes into account 
the represented person’s wishes and tries to encourage  
and help them to become capable of administering their  
own estate wherever possible.

Functions of an administrator

Typically, an administrator performs the following functions 
on behalf of a represented person:

•  Prepares and periodically reviews their financial plan  
and budget;

• Manages real estate and other assets;

•  Collects income including ensuring they receive all  
of their entitlements;

• Manages liabilities and pays accounts as they fall due;

• Attends to taxation matters;

•  Helps them accumulate savings to enable them to achieve 
their aspirations;

• Invests available funds; and

• Manages legal and associated issues.

 
Community Service Agreement

State Trustees works hard to provide an efficient operating 
base but many represented persons have few assets  
and therefore are serviced from lower value estates 
 which operate at a loss to State Trustees Limited  
despite this efficiency focus.

In adopting a commercial practice, a company would not 
normally accept administrator appointments in circumstances 
where it would incur a loss. However, as a state government 
owned company and public trustee, State Trustees is required 
to perform its functions for public benefit by:

•  Operating its business as efficiently as possible consistent 
with prudent commercial practice; and

•  Maximising its contribution to the economy and the 
state’s wellbeing.

For this reason, agreements have been in place between State 
Trustees and the Minister responsible for the Department 
of Human Services since July 1994. The agreement covers 
services to a range of State Trustees’ clients that are provided 
on a non-commercial level.

Some government funding is provided to State Trustees 
as part of this agreement and services are provided under 
legislation that includes the State Trustees (State Owned 
Company) Act 1994, Administration and Probate Act 1958, 
Trustee Act 1958, and Guardianship and Administration  
Act 1986.

Service improvements

Over the past decade or so, State Trustees has  
implemented numerous improvements to client  
services. Recent highlights include:

•  Opening new service centres in Dandenong and Bendigo 
and, as at the signing of the annual report, State Trustees 
has moved its head office to Footscray;

• Providing regional outreach and education sessions;

•  Introducing The Victorian Will Bank and State Trustees 
Legal Will Kit;

•  Alignment of work practices with the Australian 
Guardianship and Administrative Council (AGAC) Standards;

•  Establishing a stronger presence at the Victorian Civil  
and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT) to provide immediate 
access to services for our clients, VCAT applicants,  
and Tribunal members;

•  Enhancing client communication by providing regular 
service information to clients and the broader community 
and seeking client feedback on service provided;

•  Appointing a client relations officer to deal formally  
with any complaints received;

•  Developing new information systems to improve service 
delivery efficiency, particularly in managing clients’ financial 
affairs and file management;

•  Establishing the Financial Independence Program  
and Intensive Support Program; and

•  Undertaking a major review of our corporate operations  
and service delivery models to maximise efficiency, 
minimise costs and provide consistent service levels that 
meet our Community Service Agreement obligations.

State Trustees takes the stewardship of clients’ affairs 
seriously. Consultants are carefully selected to ensure they  
are empathetic to clients’ needs. State Trustees strives  
to act in our clients’ best interests at all times, empowering 
clients towards greater independence wherever possible.

Compliance and risk management

Risk management

The Board oversees State Trustees’ risk management framework.

The risk management framework is structured and 
transparent. Built on the Risk Management Standard  
AS/NZS 31000:2009, it allows State Trustees to identify, 
assess and manage risk systematically and consistently.

The framework also defines reporting processes to manage 
exposures at an appropriate level across the organisation.

Key senior managers make up the Risk Committee of 
Management, which is responsible for supporting the Board  
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to identifying, 
assessing, and managing risk and adhering to internal risk 
management policies and procedures. 

Working with the Executive and senior management,  
the risk management team helps management mitigate 
risks by identifying business risks and controls. The team 
also monitors and regularly reports to both the Board and 
management on the status of risk across the organisation.
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Compliance and control

State Trustees is committed to meeting strong compliance 
and ethical standards. A Compliance Policy guides State 
Trustees in meeting ongoing and continuously changing 
compliance requirements and obligations.

The policy, which overarches an annual Organisational 
Compliance Plan, reflects State Trustees’ 
commitment to compliance. The policy was developed  
to meet the standards in Australian Standard AS3806  
– Compliance Programs.

The Compliance Committee of the Board oversees  
all compliance risks and issues.

To help more effectively manage financial services compliance 
responsibilities, State Trustees has a management committee 
titled the Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence 
Committee. This committee reviews and monitors ongoing 
compliance with AFS licence obligations.

The committee’s key responsibilities include:

•  Reviewing key risks to compliance with AFS  
licence obligations;

•  Resolving AFS licence issues and informing the Chief 
Executive Officer of risk discussions and outcomes;

•  Assessing materiality of compliance breaches  
and recommending remedial action according  
to the Breaches Policy and Procedures; and 

•  Ensuring that all employees are trained to understand their 
compliance responsibilities and the processes and policies 
for reporting and rectifying breaches.

 
Fraud control

State Trustees has a number of management systems,  
process controls, training and procedures directed  
at preventing or minimising the risk of fraud.

The Risk Committee of Management oversees and  
reviews any investigation, then reports its findings  
and recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer  
and the Board. All instances of fraud must be reported  
to the State Trustees’ Audit Committee.

Business continuity planning

State Trustees has a Business Continuity Plan which  
is a framework designed to ensure that critical processes  
continue if a serious unplanned event occurs that may  
disrupt the business.

Leadership
Board of Directors 

Board composition

As a state government owned company, State Trustees is 
owned by the State of Victoria who, through the Treasurer as 
its representative, determines the composition of the State 
Trustees Board.

Details of the Board members, their experience, expertise, 
qualifications and terms of office are set out in the Board  
of Directors section of the Directors’ Report.

There are six Directors at the date of signing the Directors’ Report.

The Board seeks to ensure that:

•  At any point in time, its membership represents an 
appropriate balance between Directors with experience  
and knowledge of State Trustees and Directors  
with an external or fresh perspective; and

•  The Board’s size is conducive to effective discussion  
and efficient decision-making.

The Board’s guiding principles

The Board operates according to the broad principles set  
out in its charter, which details the Board’s role, composition 
and responsibilities. These are additional to State  
Trustees’ constitution.

The Company Secretary and the management representative 
responsible for preparing the relevant committee’s papers 
review each Committee’s charter at least annually.

Any recommended changes to committee charters  
are submitted to the respective committees, and any  
changes that are approved are then submitted to the  
Board for its approval.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board,  
ensuring Directors are properly briefed in all matters  
relevant to their role and responsibilities, facilitating  
Board discussions, and managing the Board’s relationship  
with State Trustees’ senior executives.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for implementing 
group strategies and policies.

The Board’s role

The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance to State 
Trustees’ within a framework of prudent and effective controls 
that enables risk to be assessed and managed.

The Board:

• Sets the organisation’s strategic aims;

•  Ensures that the necessary financial and human  
resources are in place for State Trustees’  
to meet its objectives;

•  Reviews management performance;

• Sets State Trustees’ values and standards; and

•  Ensures that State Trustees understands and meets  
its obligations to stakeholders.

Your interests at heart 1 1



The Board has delegated responsibility for operating and 
administering State Trustees to the Chief Executive Officer, 
the Executive Team and senior management. Responsibilities 
are delineated by formal authority delegations.

Independent professional advice and access  
to Company information

Each Director has the right to access all relevant State 
Trustees’ executives, information and, subject to prior 
consultation with the Chairman, may seek independent 
professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser  
at the Company’s expense.

Board processes

The full Board held nine meetings in the year, plus strategy 
and extraordinary meetings as needed to address specific 
significant matters as and when they arose.

When formal Board meetings were not scheduled,  
Directors received update reports from the Managing  
Director (prior to December 2013) and Chief Executive Officer.

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary 
prepare meeting agendas. Standing items include the Chief 
Executive Officer’s report, updates from Board Committee 
meetings, financial reports, strategic matters, governance, 
risk management and compliance. All Directors receive Board 
papers at least five business days before meetings. Executives 
are regularly involved in Board discussions and Directors  
have other opportunities for contact with a wider group  
of employees.

Conflicts of interest are declared and noted at each Board 
meeting. Directors make declarations of private interests  
to Government annually with changes noted and declared  
at each Board meeting.

Governance review

The Company, the Board and its Committees continue  
to monitor governance arrangements on an ongoing  
basis. The Board intends to undertake an internal review  
in 2014/15.

Continuing professional development

The Board has a policy on Continuing Professional 
Development to encourage its Directors to further  
develop their skills and expertise through high-quality 
learning and professional development opportunities.

Conflict of interest

Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, 
of any interests that might potentially conflict with those  
of the Company. Directors are guided in this area by Board 
-developed procedures on disclosing potential conflicts  
of interest. Where the Board believes that a significant  
conflict exists, the Director concerned does not receive  
the relevant Board papers and is not present at the  
meeting while the relevant matter is considered. 

Board Committees
The Board has established a number of committees to help  
it perform its duties and allow detailed consideration  
of complex issues. Its standing committees during the 
2013/14 year were: the Audit Committee, Business 
Transformation Committee, Compliance Committee, 
Investment Committee, and Remuneration Committee,  
as well as the State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) 
Advisory Committee.

Generally, committee structures and membership  
are reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF Advisory 
Committee, members who are not State Trustees’ 
representatives are appointed for three years.

Each Committee has its own written charter setting  
out its roles and responsibilities, composition, structure, 
membership requirements and the manner in which  
the Committee operates.

The Board and all the Committees (except STAF Advisory 
Committee) have at least one closed session each year without 
management being present.

All Board Committees have authority, within the scope of  
their responsibilities, to seek any information they require 
from any employee or external party. They may also undertake  
any other activities consistent with their charters.

The number of times each committee met during the year, 
and committee members’ attendance record, are disclosed  
in the table of Directors’ meetings in the Directors’ Report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four Directors as at  
30 June 2014. The Committee’s Chairman is Patrick Burroughs,  
and its members are Lindsay Smith, Christopher Martin  
and Dino Georgiou. 

The Audit Committee, at its discretion, invites the internal  
and external auditors, Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer to attend its meetings.

The Committee oversees financial reporting and advises  
on establishing and maintaining a framework of internal 
controls for managing State Trustees.

The Audit Committee is responsible for approving  
the internal audit program conducted each year.

The internal auditors help the Board ensure compliance  
with internal controls and risk management programs  
by regularly reviewing how well the compliance and control 
systems function.

The Audit Committee also meets annually with the internal 
and external auditors without management being present.

The Auditor-General is the organisation’s official external 
auditor, but he has contracted State Trustees’ external audit 
to HLB Mann Judd.

The Company outsources the internal audit function  
to BDO East Coast Partnership. 
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The Audit Committee:

•  Oversees financial reporting, statutory accounts 

• and corporate accounting policies;

•  Reviews, approves and monitors the system of internal controls;

•  Reviews the external audit plan; and

•  Sets an internal audit program (in conjunction  
with the Compliance Committee).

Business Transformation Committee

The Business Transformation Committee completed  
its second and final year of operation. The committee was 
chaired by Julie Elliott (until 4 June 2014) and Sue O’Connor 
(from 24 June 2014). Members were Tony Fitzgerald  
(until 30 December 2013) and Patrick Burroughs.  

In accordance with the agreed calendar of events, the 
committee reviewed the results and progress of the business 
transformation program, and systematically reviewed the 
transformational business projects undertaken throughout 
the year. The Committee met seven times in 2013/14.

Under its charter, the Committee acts as Delegate of the 
Board in relation to the approved Business Transformation 
Program, including:

• Making decisions to give effect to the various projects;

• Overseeing the implementation of projects;

•  Assessing and monitoring business risks as they relate  
to the program; and

• Providing guidance to management.

Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee comprises four Directors  
as at 30 June 2014. The Committee’s Chairman is Patrick 
Burroughs and its members are Lindsay Smith, Christopher 
Martin and Dino Georgiou.

Under its charter, the Committee reviews State Trustees’ 
compliance with relevant legislative and regulatory 
obligations, reviews and monitors how State Trustees’  
overall compliance framework is maintained and  
implemented and assesses and monitors business  
risks as they relate to compliance.

The Compliance Committee’s main responsibilities include:

•  Reviewing management compliance reports and monitoring 
management responses to compliance issues;

•  Meeting with the managed investments compliance plan auditors;

•  Monitoring the effectiveness and completeness  
of compliance reporting;

•  Monitoring and overseeing compliance with relevant 
legislative and regulatory obligations (of a non-financial  
or non-accounting nature);

•  Reviewing and approving the process used to identify, 
monitor and manage compliance-related risks;

•  Ensuring that where compliance breaches are identified, 
appropriate and timely reporting occurs and appropriate 
rectification strategies are implemented on a timely  
basis; and

•  Reviewing and approving the design of the annual 
compliance program.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises three Directors as at  
30 June 2014. The Committee’s Chairman is Pamela Mitchell 
and its members are Sue O’Connor and Dino Georgiou.

The Investment Committee’s main responsibilities include 
overseeing the actions of management in relation to State 
Trustees’ investment funds, other than for:

Financial accounting and reporting;

•  Compliance with regulatory requirements and unit  
pricing policies;

•  Compliance by the custodian with its contractual 
obligations which are the responsibility of the Audit  
or Compliance Committees;

•  Overseeing management’s supervision of appointed 
external investment advisors; and

•  Considering on an annual basis and taking into account 
the views of the Compliance Committee in relation to 
compliance issues, the suitability of the appointed external 
service provider to continue to provide custodian and 
investment administration services for the investments.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four Directors  
as at 30 June 2014. The Committee’s Chairman is Dino 
Georgiou and its members are Lindsay Smith, Pam Mitchell 
and Patrick Burroughs.

The Committee advises the Board on general remuneration 
and incentive policies and practices, and makes specific 
recommendations on remuneration packages and other 
employment terms for the Managing Director (prior to 
December 2013), Chief Executive Officer (after December 
2013) and other senior executives. Remuneration  
of executives is determined with reference to the  
Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP). 
The Committee also makes recommendations to the Board  
on superannuation arrangements.

State Trustees Australia Foundation (STAF) Advisory 
Committee

The State Trustees Australia Foundation Advisory Committee 
comprises one Director, two members of the Executive  
and three independent members as at 30 June 2014.  
The Committee’s Chairman is Lindsay Smith and its current 
members are Robert Knowles AO, Lawrence St Leger, Kristin 
Stegley OAM, Craig Dent and Melanie Lewis.

The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which meets at least 
once a year, is to recommend how the STAF income should  
be distributed to, or benefit, eligible charitable recipients. 
Grants for this purpose are generated from income earned  
on donations where the donors have not made binding 
directions for grants to specific charities.
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Financial Statements
This financial statement covers both State Trustees Limited as an individual entity  
and the consolidated entity consisting of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial 
Services Limited. 

State Trustees Limited is a state government owned company. Its registered office  
and principal place of business:

30 June 2014    from 21 July 2014 
168 Exhibition Street  1 McNab Avenue 
Melbourne, Victoria, 3000  Footscray, Victoria 3011

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal 
activities is included in the Directors’ Report on pages 3-7, which is not part of this 
financial statement.

The financial statement was authorised for issue by the Directors on 28 August 2014.
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Directors’ report
State Trustees Limited’s Board of Directors is pleased to present the economic  
entity’s financial statements as at 30 June 2014. 

1. Board of Directors
Directors of State Trustees Limited in office during the financial year were:

Dino Georgiou  
LLB (Hons), BCom
Appointed: 14 December 2011, Appointed Chair 5 June 2014

Experience: Dino brings a broad range of experience from 
the legal, government and ITC sectors. Dino has held senior 
corporate roles in commercial, regulatory, marketing and 
sales and is currently a senior executive in Telstra's Global 
Enterprise and Services business.

A former corporate lawyer specialising in banking,  
finance and commercial, Dino has also served in Senior  
Adviser positions for Federal Ministers of Finance,  
with responsibility for oversight of Commonwealth 
Government Business Enterprises and the Minister  
for Defence on acquisitions and procurement,  
major projects and industry.

Dino holds degrees in Law (Hons) and Commerce from  
the University of Melbourne.

Christopher (Chris) Martin  
LLB (Hons), BEc (Acc)
Appointed: 27 August 2013

Experience: Chris is one of Australia’s leading turnaround, 
transformation and corporate renewal advisors. He is a 
qualified solicitor and chartered accountant with a broad 
range of advisory and operational experience.

Prior to returning to a leading professional services firm,  
Chris was the Managing Director of an ASX-listed company 
which focused on the needs of the ageing population.  
In this role he developed and implemented a new corporate 
strategy designed to deliver sustainable and profitable growth. 
While the initial focus was on improving the operational  
and financial performance of existing business units this 
initiative was supplemented by a range of acquisitions.

Having considerable experience as both advisor and front line 
manager, Chris brings operational empathy and understands 
the importance of working with management to design 
practical solutions that are capable of being assessed  
against clearly defined and measurable outcomes.

Lindsay Smith  
MBA, MAICD
Appointed: 1 March 2012

Experience: Lindsay has extensive experience in sales, 
marketing and distribution from his 20 year involvement 
in the privately owned company PFD Food Services  
and various food manufacturing and building  
products businesses.

Throughout his career with PFD Food Services he has held 
various senior management and executive director positions. 
PFD Food Services is a leading broad line food service business 
and operates 65 distribution centres nationally including  
a significant presence across regional Australia.

He is a Director of PFD Food Services Pty Ltd and related 
wholly owned entities. He is also Chairman of Dingo Cement 
Australia, a Director of 7 Chefs Pty Ltd and P&V Forrest 
Investments Pty Ltd.

Lindsay holds a Master of Business Administration from 
Swinburne University of Technology.

Pamela (Pam) Mitchell  
BBus, Dip Fin Services, CA
Appointed: 3 December 2013

Experience: Pam is a Chartered Accountant with extensive 
experience in the start-up, financial planning and prudent 
financial management of superannuation funds and a range 
of small and medium-size enterprises in the corporate, 
government and not-for-profit sectors.

Pam has held many Board roles and has been Chief Financial 
Officer and Company Secretary of a number of investment 
and property businesses including Industry Superannuation 
Property Trust, Becton Investment Management Limited  
and Australian Farms Fund Management Pty Ltd.

Pam is currently a Director of ESS Super and is a member  
of the Audit Committee for Department of State Development, 
Business and Innovation.
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Patrick Burroughs 
BSSc (Hons), FCA, FAICD, SA Fin
Appointed: 1 May 2008

Experience: Patrick is a Chartered Accountant with extensive 
experience in a range of industries including financial services, 
building and construction, manufacturing and government 
(health, treasury and finance) sectors.

Patrick is a Director of Queen Victoria Market Pty Ltd.

Sue O’Connor  
BAppSci, Grad Dip Bus Mgt, FAICD
Appointed: 3 December 2013

Experience: An experienced Global Non Executive Director 
and business leader, Sue is known for her ability to lead 
companies in the achievement of breakout improvements  
in growth and productivity – particularly through the 
application of digital technology and social media in 
transforming markets. A highly numerate and commercially 
astute director, Sue is recognised for her expertise in digital 
business, business transformation, cyber security, governance 
and strategic thinking.

Sue has been a Non Executive Director/Chairman for nine 
years. Currently she is Deputy Chairman of Goulburn Valley 
Water; Director and immediate past Chair of YMCA Victoria 
and member YMCA Australia International Sub Committee; 
Managing Director Balcombe Consulting and Facilitator AICD 
Company Director’s Course. 

Sue brings to the board table 20+ years of senior  
executive P&L and board consulting experience.  
Companies include Telstra Corporation (13 years),  
Origin Energy, SMS Management & Technology and Bendigo  
& Adelaide Bank as well as major government organisations 
such as Medibank Private and Department of Defence.

Julie Elliott  
MBA, BEc, FCA, GAICD, SA Fin
Appointed: 5 March 2008 (as Director), 1 December 2008  
(as Chair)

Retired: 4 June 2014

Anthony G Fitzgerald  
BBus, CPA, MAICD
Appointed: 25 September 2003 (Managing Director)

Retired: 31 December 2013
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Director Board Meeting
Audit 

Committee
Compliance 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee 

STAF^ Advisory 
Committee

Business 
Transformation 

Committee**

A H A H A H A H A H A H A H

Julie Elliott (a) 8 8 3 4 3 3 4 4 2 2 - - 6 6

Anthony Fitzgerald 2 3 - - 2 2 1 2 - - 1 1 2 3

Patrick Burroughs 
(b)

8 9 4 4 - - - - 2 2 - - 7 7

Dino Georgiou (c) 9 9 - - 4 4 4 4 - - - - - -

Pam Mitchell (d) 7 7 - - - - 2 3 1 1 - - - -

Lindsay Smith (e) 9 9 4 4 - - - - 1 2 2 2 - -

Sue  O'Connor (f) 7 7 - - 2 2 - - - - - - 5 5

Chris Martin 9 9 2 3 3 3 - - - - - - - -

A Number of meetings attended.

H Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office exclusive of leave of absence.

(a)
Julie Elliott was, until 4 June 2014, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Chairman of the Business 
Transformation Committee and, until 11 December 2013, Acting Chairman of the Investment Committee. 

(b) Patrick Burroughs is Chairman of the Audit Committee and was, from 24 June 2014, Chairman of the Compliance Committee.

(c) Dino Georgiou is Chairman of the Board and was, until 24 June 2014, Chairman of the Compliance Committee.

(d) Pam Mitchell is, from 12 December 2013, Chairman of the Investment Committee.

(e) Lindsay Smith is Chairman of the STAF Advisory Committee.

(f) Sue O’Connor is, from 24 June, Chairman of the Business Transformation Committee.**

- Director is not a member of this Committee.

^ STAF stands for State Trustees Australia Foundation.

* In addition, all Directors attended other meetings with Management in the discharge of their duties.

** Business Transformation Committee was renamed to the Digital Transformation Committee, effective 1 July 2014.

2. Directors’ meetings

Legend
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3. Principal activities
State Trustees Limited’s principal activities during  
the year were acting as trustee, executor, administrator, 
attorney and provider of other fiduciary and agency services.

4. Dividend
In keeping with their declared policy of distributing 50%  
of operating profit after tax to the shareholder, the Directors 
recommend a total dividend of $1.837m for the 2013/14 
financial year (2013: $546k).

2014 2013

$000 $000

Interim dividend 1,025 -

Final dividend * 812 546

Total dividends for the year 1,837 546

*  The final 2014 dividend is not payable until approved by the shareholder. 
Accordingly, State Trustees Limited has not made a provision for the 
dividend in the current accounts.

5. Review of operations
The current reporting period has seen State Trustees  
Limited continue on the strategic journey to meet  
our vision “to be relevant, accessible and valued  
in the hearts and minds of Victorians” and achieve  
our purpose “to help Victorians with their financial  
needs so they can make the most of their opportunities”.

After two years of major change, as a result of the Business 
Transformation Program, State Trustees Limited has 
substantially delivered its desired target operating model. 
Sixty corporate projects have been completed, ranging from 
service and resource model reviews of all core services, 
the launch of new products such as the Will Bank, a major 
Information Communications Technology (ICT) investment 
program and a culture and leadership program ensuring 
improved business and delivery of services to our clients.

The profit before tax was $4.709m (2013: $1.569m).  
This result is $605k (14.7%) ahead of budget. The profit  
after tax was $3.673m (2013: $1.092m) and is ahead  
of the budgeted profit of $2.872m. The strong profit  
result reflects a year where revenue challenges have  
been offset by tight cost control.

Despite full year revenue of $62.423m (2013: $65.511m) 
slightly lower than the previous financial year, savings from 
efficiencies and the Business Transformation Program have 
had a material impact on the full year result. 

The Business Transformation Program has been 
extraordinarily successful delivering large benefits  
across the two year period (1 July 2012 – 30 June 2014).  
This program has enabled the implementation of two  
critical business improvements: transitioning to the new  
head office in Footscray; and the ICT investment program. 

This year, State Trustees Limited was the recipient of two 
awards for excellence in Marketing - AMI 2013 Awards for  
Marketing Excellence: New Brand, Product or Service  
Launch, Victoria State Winner (Online Will Kit) and AMI  
2013 Awards for Marketing Excellence: Consumer Insights,  
Victoria State Winner.

6. Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs  
other than those referred to in the financial statements  
or attached notes. 

7.  Matters subsequent to the end of the 
financial year

There are no circumstances which have arisen since  
30 June 2014 not otherwise dealt with in this report that have 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations 
of State Trustees Limited, the results of those operations  
or the state of affairs of State Trustees Limited in subsequent 
financial years.

8. Likely developments and future results
The Directors advise that there are no likely developments  
in State Trustees Limited’s operations or expected results  
in future financial years to report other than what is reported 
in this report. 

9. Insurance
During the financial year, State Trustees Limited paid a 
premium under a contract insuring specified officers against 
liability incurred in their capacity of working on the company’s 
behalf. Those officers consist of the Directors of State Trustees 
Limited named earlier in this report, the Company Secretaries, 
and other Officers of State Trustees Limited including certain 
Officers whose functions include exercising executive decision 
making powers of State Trustees Limited and its related 
bodies corporate.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount  
of premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of  
the contract of insurance. State Trustees Limited has not 
provided any insurance for an auditor of State Trustees 
Limited or related body corporate.
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Auditor-General’s  
independence declaration
To the Directors, State Trustees Limited

The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the 
Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an independent 
officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person 
about the way in which his powers and responsibilities  
are to be exercised.

Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor  
of each public body and for the purposes of conducting an 
audit has access to all documents and property, and may 
report to parliament any matters which the Auditor-General 
considers appropriate.

Independence Declaration

As auditor for State Trustees Limited for the year ended  
30 June 2014, I declare that, to the best of my knowledge  
and belief, there have been:

a)  no contraventions of auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit

b)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional 
conduct in relation to the audit.

   Mr. John Doyle 
   Auditor-General

   Melbourne, 29 August 2014

Victorian Government 
Risk Management 
Framework Attestation
In the context of the Victorian Government Risk Management 
Framework and State Trustees Limited’s observance of the 
framework, I, Dino Georgiou, certify that State Trustees 
Limited has risk management processes in place consistent 
with the Australian/New Zealand Risk Management Standard 
(or equivalent designated standard) and an internal control 
system is in place that is intended to enable the Executive  
to understand, manage and satisfactorily control material  
risk exposures.

The Board verifies this assurance and that the risk profile  
of State Trustees Limited has been critically reviewed within 
the last 12 months.

Dino Georgiou  
Chairman of Directors 

10. Reserve fund
State Trustees Limited has complied with the provisions  
of the Trustee Companies Act 1984 that requires a reserve fund 
to be created and set aside by authorised trustee companies.  
This is reflected in the financial statements at Note 12.

11. Auditors’ independence declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration,  
as required under section 307C of the Corporations  
Act 2001, is set out opposite.

12. Rounding amounts
The amounts contained within this report and the 
 financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 
(where rounding is applicable) under the option available to 
State Trustees Limited under ASIC CO 98/0100. State Trustees 
Limited is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution  
of the Board of Directors.

      

Dino Georgiou   Patrick Burroughs 
Chairman of Directors   Director

Melbourne, 28 August 2014 
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

Notes $000s $000s

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and deposits 5 19,537 12,149

Receivables 6 7,784 9,845

Investments in managed investments 22 7,052 7,805

Advances to clients 22 2,275 3,025

Property – Held for Sale 7 - 17,000

Prepayments 1,370 1,155

Total current assets 38,018 50,979

Non-current assets

Property, plant, and equipment 8 28,295 13,165

Deferred tax assets 4 4,194 3,987

Total non-current assets 32,489 17,152

Total assets 70,507 68,131

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Payables 9 9,574 9,246

Income tax equivalent 1,300 401

Provisions 10 79 142

Employee entitlements 10 6,031 6,077

Total current liabilities 16,984 15,866

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 4 137 667

Provisions 10 20 223

Employee entitlements 10 1,084 1,195

Total non-current liabilities 1,241 2,085

Total liabilities 18,225 17,951

Net assets 52,282 50,180

EQUITY

Contributed equity 11 17,361 17,361

Reserves 12 17,212 22,359

Retained profits 17,709 10,460

Total equity 52,282 50,180

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014
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Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

Notes $000s $000s

Revenue from continuing operations

Commissions and fees 45,378 46,245

Community Service Obligation revenue 15,751 15,419

Regionalisation Transition Funding - 2,927

Other operating revenue 3 1,294 920

Total revenue 62,423 65,511

Expenses from continuing operations

Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 2,911 3,126

Lease rental charges – operating leases 2,591 1,797

Audit expenses 21 154 194

Employee benefits expense 39,307 44,983

Other expenses 3 12,751 13,842

Total expenses 57,714 63,942

Profit from continuing operations before income tax equivalent 4,709 1,569

Income tax equivalent expense 4 1,036 477

Net profit 3,673 1,092

Other comprehensive income items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to Profit or Loss:

Fair value revaluation of land and buildings - (1,028)

Income tax equivalent (expense) - 29

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax - (999)

Total comprehensive income for the period 3,673 93

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Statement of Comprehensive Income  
for the year ended 30 June 2014
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Consolidated Entity  Contributed Equity Asset Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained Earnings General Reserve 
Note 12

Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Total equity at the start  
of the financial year

17,361 12,941 10,460 9,418 50,180

Profit for the period - - 3,673 - 3,673

Other comprehensive income - - - - -

Total comprehensive income  
for the period

- - 3,673 - 3,673

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners

Contribution from Owners - - - - -

Elimination of Asset Revaluation 
Reserve due to sale of Land and 
Buildings

- (12,941) 12,941 - -

Dividends paid to Owners - - (1,571) - (1,571)

Profits transferred to / from  
General Reserve

- - (7,794) 7,794 -

As at 30 June 2014 17,361 - 17,709 17,212 52,282

Consolidated Entity  Contributed Equity Asset Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained Earnings General Reserve 
Note 12

Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2013

Total equity at the start  
of the financial year

16,328 13,940 9,139 9,647 49,054

Profit for the period - - 1,092 - 1,092

Other Comprehensive income - (999) - - (999)

Total comprehensive income  
for the period

- (999) 1,092 - 93

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners

Contribution from Owners 1,033 - - - 1,033

Profits transferred to / from  
General Reserve

- - 229 (229) -

As at 30 June 2013 17,361 12,941 10,460 9,418 50,180

Statement of Changes in Equity  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

Notes $000s $000s

Cash flows from operating activities

Commissions and fees received 47,593 46,226

Community Service Obligation income received 15,572 15,165

Regionalisation Transitional Funding - 3,282

Corporate Investment Income 1,039 509

Payments to suppliers and employees (55,100) (57,425)

Payments of income tax equivalent (874) (190)

Net cash flows from operating activities 15 8,230 7,567

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment 17,014 73

Purchase of property, plant, and equipment (18,084) (5,098)

Proceeds from redemption of interests in managed investment schemes 2,849 514

Payments for  interests in managed investment schemes (1,050) (2,052)

Net cash flows from investing activities 729 (6,563)

Cash flows from financing activities

Contribution from Owners - 3,105

Dividends paid (1,571) -

Net cash flows from financing activities (1,571) 3,105

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 7,388 4,109

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year 12,149 8,040

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 5 19,537 12,149

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 30 June 2014

Note 1. Corporate information
The financial report of State Trustees Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 was authorised for issuance in accordance 
with a resolution of the Directors on 28 August 2014.

State Trustees Limited is a state governmnet owned company, 
which has been classified as a for profit entity. The State of 
Victoria is the sole shareholder.

The nature of the operations and principal activities of State 
Trustees Limited are described in the Directors’ report. 

Note 2. Summary of significant  
accounting policies
These annual financial statements represent the audited 
general purpose financial reports for State Trustees Limited 
for the period ended 30 June 2014. The purpose of this report 
is to provide users with information about the State Trustees 
Limited’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, 
which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board. The financial report has also 
been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for land and 
buildings and financial assets and liabilities held at fair value 
through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. 

(b) Basis of accounting preparation and measurement

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements whereby assets, 
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in the 
reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash 
is received or paid.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars  
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand  
($000) dollars unless otherwise stated. 

(c) Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.

(d) Principles of consolidation

These are the consolidated financial statements for State 
Trustees Limited and its controlled entity collectively 
referred to as the “Group”. The Statement of Financial 
Position of the Parent is disclosed in Note 15.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,  
all intercompany balances and transactions, income  
and expenses and profit and losses resulting from  
intra-group transactions have been eliminated in full.

Each subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.

(e) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value  
of the consideration received or receivable to the extent  
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to  
the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.  
The following specific recognition criteria must also  
be met before revenue is recognised:

Commissions and fees

Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant  
to the published schedule of fees. Revenue is recognised  
on an accruals basis when the service is provided.

Community Service Agreement (CSA) revenue

Revenue is received from the State of Victoria under the 
Community Service Agreement. This revenue is based on State 
Trustees Limited providing financial services management 
to the community as defined by the agreement, and is 
recognised on an accruals basis when the service is provided.

Grant income 

Under the requirements of AASB 120: Accounting for 
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance, 
Funding is treated as income in the same period as the 
relevant expenses recorded in the income statement.

Interest revenue

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective 
interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income 
over the relevant period using the effective interest rate.  
This rate discounts the estimated future cash receipts  
through the expected life of the financial asset to the  
net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividends and Trust Distributions

Dividends and Trust Distributions are recognised when  
the right to receive the payment is established.
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(f) Impairment of assets

State Trustees Limited conducts an annual internal review  
of asset values, which is used as a source of information to 
assess for any indicators of impairment. 

External factors, such as changes in expected future 
processes, technology and economic conditions,  
are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment. 

If any indication of impairment exists, an estimate of the 
asset’s recoverable amount is calculated. An impairment  
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s  
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value,  
less costs to sell and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). 

(g) Cash and deposits

Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet comprise 
cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those 
highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three 
months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting 
short term cash commitments rather than for investment 
purposes, and readily convertible to known amounts  
of cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash 
equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are included  
as borrowings on the balance sheet.

(h) Receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment. 

Collectability of receivables are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis at an operating unit level. Individual debts that are 
known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. 
An impairment provision is recognised when there is 
objective evidence that the Group may not be able to collect 
the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, default 
payments or debts more than 60 days overdue are considered 
objective evidence of impairment.

Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not 
discounted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Advances to clients are subject to an approval process  
prior to issue and are periodically reviewed for impairment  
by divisional management. 

(i) Investments and other financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Investments in financial assets are recognised initially  
at fair value. All purchases and sales of financial assets  
are recognised on the trade date i.e., the date that the  
Group commits to purchase the asset. Financial assets  
are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows  
from the financial assets have expired or been transferred.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial Assets are classified at fair value through profit  
or loss. Gains or losses on financial assets are recognised  
in profit or loss and the related assets are classified as  
current assets in the Statement of Financial Position.  
These financial assets are designated on the basis that 
they are a group of financial assets which are managed 
and have their performance evaluated on a fair value basis 
in accordance with the risk management and investment 
strategies of the Group as disclosed in Note 22. The Group’s 
financial assets consist of investments in unlisted trusts  
which are valued at the redemption value per unit as  
reported by the manager of the investments. 

Receivables

Receivables are recorded at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method less impairment. They are included 
in current assets, except for those with maturities greater  
than 12 months after balance date, which are classified  
as non-current.

Controlled unlisted companies

Investments in controlled unlisted companies are measured  
at cost and impairment is tested annually.

(j) Property 

The business has entered into a commercial in confidence 
agreement on 18  July 2013 to dispose of the land and 
buildings in relation to our head office premises with the 
settlement and disposal occurring on September 2013.

The land and buildings were classified as a Current Asset 
classified as held for sale in 2012/13.

Land and buildings were measured at fair value,  
based on periodic but at least triennial valuations by 
external independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation 
on buildings and less any impairment losses recognised after 
the date of the revaluation. The land and buildings were 
subsequently disposed in 2013/14.

Depreciation was calculated on a straight-line basis over  
the estimated useful life of the buildings (34 years).
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Land and building revaluations 

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve included in equity, except to the extent that it reverses 
a revaluation decrement for the same asset previously 
recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increment  
is recognised in profit or loss.

Any revaluation decrement is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it offsets a previous revaluation 
increment for the same asset, in which case the decrement  
is debited directly to the asset revaluation reserve to the 
extent of the credit balance existing in the revaluation  
reserve for that asset.

Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date  
is eliminated against the gross carrying amounts of the assets 
and the net amounts are restated to the revalued amounts  
of the assets.

Disposal

An item of property, plant, and equipment is derecognised  
on disposal or when we can expect no further future economic 
benefits from its use or disposal.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Upon disposal or derecognition, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred  
to retained earnings.

(k) Property, plant, and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost,  
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing 
parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of 
replacing the parts is incurred. Similarly, when each major 
inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it 
is eligible for capitalisation. All other repairs and maintenance 
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:

Leasehold improvements Lease term

Furniture and fittings 13 years

Computers 4 years

Office equipment 7 years

Telephone system 5 years

System development (non Stratis)

- Hardware 4 years

- Software 7 years

System development (Stratis) 3 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

There has been no change to depreciation rates.

System development costs that will produce long-term 
company benefits are amortised and depreciated over the 
asset’s useful life. The assets’ residual values, useful lives  
and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted  
if appropriate, at each financial year end.

(l) Payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost  
due to their short term nature they are not discounted.  
They represent liabilities for goods and services provided  
to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods  
and services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually  
paid within 30 days of recognition.

(m) Employee benefits and provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,  
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation  
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount  
of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of 
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required  
to settle the present obligation at the reporting date using  
a discounted cash flow methodology. The risks specific to  
the provision are factored into the cash flows and as such  
a risk-free government bond rate relative to the expected  
life of the provision is used as a discount rate.
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(i) Wages, salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits and annual leave expected to be wholly settled  
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised  
in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. 
They are measured at the amounts expected to be paid  
when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured 
as the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in respect of services provided by employees up to  
the reporting date.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match,  
as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii)  Annual leave (expected to be settled greater  
than 12 months)

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled 
greater than 12 months of the reporting date is recognised  
as a current liability and measured as the present value  
of expected future payments to be made in respect of  
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, based upon current company annual leave policy 
and directions imposed by management in terms of leave 
utilisation. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on national government 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match,  
as closely as possible, the future cash outflows.

(n) Onerous contracts

An onerous contract is considered to exist when the 
unavoidable cost of meeting the contractual obligations 
exceeds the estimated economic benefits to be received. 
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are 
recognised as a provision to the extent that the present 
obligation exceeds the estimated economic benefits  
to be received.

(o) Accounting for the goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST 
except where the GST incurred is not recoverable. In this case, 
it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset  
or part of the expense item as applicable. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable  
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement  
on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as part 
of operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net  
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable  
to the taxation authority.

(p) Income tax

Income Tax Equivalent

State Trustees Limited is a state government owned company 
listed on the register of the National Tax Equivalent Regime. 
As such, it is required to account for its taxation liabilities in 
accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, and the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 as required. 

It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the respective 
taxation legislation to the Victorian Government  
Consolidated Fund.

Deferred Tax Assets / Liabilities

The calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured 
in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 112. As such, 
State Trustees Limited accounts for the tax consequences  
of transactions and other events in the same way that it 
accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. 
Thus, for transactions recognised in profit or loss, related tax 
effects are also recognised in profit or loss. For transactions 
and other events recognised directly in equity, any related  
tax effects are also recognised in equity.

A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be 
recognised for all temporary differences that arise for the 
difference between the carrying value of the asset or liability 
and its tax value. 

Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes 
recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible 
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax losses 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits. A deferred tax 
asset shall be recognised for the carry forward of unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that future profit will be available against which the unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are amounts of income taxes payable  
in future periods in respect of taxable temporary differences. 

Tax Consolidation

State Trustees Limited has formed an income tax consolidated 
group consisting of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial 
Services Limited. State Trustees Limited is the head entity  
of the tax consolidated group.

The entities within the tax consolidated group have entered 
into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement 
with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding 
arrangement, STL Financial Serivices Limited has agreed 
to pay/receive a tax equivalent payment to or from State 
Trustees Limited based on the current tax asset or liability  
of the entity. Such amounts are reflected in amounts 
receivable from or payable to the other entity in the tax 
consolidated group.
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The tax sharing agreement entered into between the  
members of the tax consolidated group provides for  
the determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should State Trustees Limited default 
on its tax payment obligations. No amounts have been 
recognised in the financial statements in respect of this 
agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax  
sharing agreement is considered remote.

(q) Executor Services Capital Commission revenue accrual

Commission is accrued over the estate service period. 
Revenue is recognised on a proportionate basis, during the 
estate service period based on work performed in line with 
the defined milestones that result in the settlement of the 
estate. Our benchmarks for this are 31 weeks for a low value 
estate to 39 weeks for a standard/complex estate. The time 
taken to administer an estate can vary due to legal or other 
circumstances. The fees and charges vary due to the estimates 
used for estate values and commission rates through the 
estate service period. 

(r) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares of the company are classified as equity, 
government contribution received/receivable for which 
Department of Treasury and Finance made a specific 
designation as contribution from owners that are treated  
as capital contribution, without the issuing of shares.

(s) Operating leases

State Trustees as lessee

Operating lease payments, including any contingent  
rentals, are recognised as an expense in the Statement  
of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term, except where another systemic basis is more 
representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from 
the leased asset. The leased asset is not recognised  
in the balance sheet.

(t) Commitments

Commitments for future expenditure include operating  
and capital commitments arising from contracts.  
These commitments are disclosed by way of a note  
(refer to Note 13: Commitments) at their nominal value  
and exclusive of GST payable.

(u) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised in the balance sheet, but are disclosed by way  
of a note (refer to Note 14: Contingment assetes and 
contingment liabilities) and, if quantifiable, are measured  
at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are 
presented exclusive of GST payable.

(v) New accounting standards and interpretations

The following accounting standards and interpretations have 
been adopted in the financial statements prepared by State 
Trustees Limited.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements  
(Effective 1 July 2013)

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that applies  
to all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 Consolidated  
and Separate Financial Statements dealing with the 
accounting for consolidated financial statements  
and Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities.

The new control model broadens the situations when an entity 
is considered to be controlled by another entity and includes 
new guidance for applying the model to specific situations, 
including when acting as a manager may give control,  
the impact of potential voting rights and when holding  
less than a majority voting rights may give control.

Consequential amendments were also made to this  
and other standards via AASB 2011-7 and AASB 2012 - 10.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement (Effective 1 July 2013)

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for 
determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. AASB 13 
does not change when an entity is required to use fair value, 
but rather, provides guidance on how to determine fair value 
when fair value is required or permitted. Application of this 
definition may result in different fair values being determined 
for the relevant assets.

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for 
all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This includes 
information about the assumptions made and the qualitative 
impact of those assumptions on the fair value determined.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011 - 8.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 
Standards (Effective 1 July 2013)

This standard establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements 
for preparing general purpose financial statements:

a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and

b)  Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements.

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and 
presentation requirements of Tier 1 and substantially  
reduced disclosures corresponding to those requirements.
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The following entities apply Tier 1 requirements in preparing 
general purpose financial statements:

a)   For-profit entities in the private sector that have public 
accountability (as defined in this standard); and

 b)   The Australian Government and State, Territory and 
Local governments.

 The following entities apply either Tier 2 or Tier 1 
requirements in preparing general purpose  
financial statements:

 a)   For-profit private sector entities that do not have  
public accountability;

b)  All not-for-profit private sector entities; and

c)   Public sector entities other than the Australian 
Government and State, Territory and Local governments.

Consequential amendments to other standards to implement 
the regime were introduced by AASB 2010 - 2, 2011 - 2,  
2011 - 6, 2011 - 11, 2012 - 1, 2012 - 7 and 2012 - 11.

As State Trustees Limited is wholly owned by the State 
Government of Victoria, the preparation of general  
purpose financial statements are in accordance with  
Tier 1 requirements.

The following new accounting standards and interpretations below have been adopted however have no material impact upon the 
financial statements prepared by State Trustees Limited.

(w) New accounting standards and interpretations - not yet effective

Management are still reviewing the new accounting standards and interpretations below, however at this stage we do not believe 
that they will have a material impact upon the financial statements prepared by the company.

Accounting Standard / Interpretation Effective Date

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 July 2013

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

1 July 2013

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-
2011 Cycle

1 July 2013

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the withdrawal of Australian Interpretation 1039 1 July 2013

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 1July 2013

Accounting Standard / Interpretation Effective Date

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities 

1 July 2014

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 July 2018

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets 1 July 2014

AASB 2013-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities [AASB 1, AASB 3, 
AASB 7, AASB 10, AASB 12, AASB 107, AASB 112, AASB 124, AASB 127, AASB 132, AASB 134 & AASB 139] 

1 July 2014

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 1 July 2014

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 1 July 2014

AASB 1031 Materiality 1 July 2014

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments

1 July 2014

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 
(Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38) 

1 July 2016

IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 July 2017
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Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

INCOME

Other revenue from operating activities

- Interest received 737 455

- Distributions from Managed Investments 261 117

- Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value 296 348

1,294 920

EXPENSES

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation

- Building - 352

- Building improvements - 327

- Leasehold improvements 483 559

- Fixtures and fittings 185 208

- Computer and office equipment 1,502 1,288

- Telephone system 6 6

- Motor vehicles 96 132

2,272 2,872

Amortisation

- System development 639 254

639 254

Total 2,911 3,126

Other expenses

- Corporate 4,724 5,888

- Building and office 3,304 3,945

- Marketing and advertising 1,224 1,614

- Information system 2,506 1,340

- Travel and motor vehicle 429 467

- Loss on sale of fixed  assets 189 12

- Other 375 576

12,751 13,842

Note 3. Other revenue and expenses
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Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Profit/(loss) before tax 4,709 1,569

Prima facie tax at 30% 1,413 471

Tax effect of non-temporary differences:

- Imputation Credits and Other (22) (20)

- Entertainment 11 6

- Adjustment related to Exhibition Street (364) -

- Adjustment on prior year (2) 20

Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit 1,036 477

Total income tax expense comprises movements in:

- Current tax expense 1,707 639

- Deferred tax expense (536) (134)

- Other adjustments (135) (28)

1,036 477

Note 4. Income tax equivalent expense

Consolidated Entity  Opening Balance Charged to income Charged to Equity Closing Balance

$000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Gross deferred tax assets

- Provision for doubtful debts 2 25 - 27

- Provision for employee entitlements 2,520 (2) - 2,518

- Provision for accrued expenses 587 606 - 1,193

- Accrued audit fees 88 67 - 155

- Accrued Lease expenses 366 (65) - 301

- Carry forward capital losses 196 (196) - -

- FBT 18 (18) - -

- Fixed Assets (Refurbishment) 210 - (210) -

3,987 417 (210) 4,194

Gross deferred tax liabilities

- Unrealised gains on investments (72) (30) - (102)

- FBT - (14) - (14)

- Fixed Assets (General) (184) 163 - (21)

- Asset revaluation reserve (411) - 411 -

(667) 119 411 (137)

Taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following:
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Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Receivables 1,805 1,910

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (89) (6)

1,716 1,904

Accrued income 6,068 7,941

Total current receivables 7,784 9,845

Note 5. Cash and deposits

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Cash on hand and at bank 1,437 1,459

Short term money market deposits at call 18,100 10,690

Total cash assets 19,537 12,149

Note 6. Receivables (current)

Note 7. Property classified as held for sale

Consolidated Entity Land Building Total

$000s $000s $000s

2014

Opening Value 5,380 11,620 17,000

Disposals at cost (5,380) (11,620) (17,000)

- - -

Opening accumulated depreciation - - -

Elimination of accumulated depreciation - - -

- - -

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2014 - - -
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Note 7. Property classified as held for sale (cont.)

Consolidated Entity Land Building Total

$000s $000s $000s

2013

Opening Value 5,600 13,100 18,700

Additions at cost - 7 7

Disposals at cost - - -

Revaluation of asset (220) (808) (1,028)

Elimination of accumulated depreciation - (679) (679)

5,380 11,620 17,000

Opening accumulated depreciation - - -

Depreciation for the year - 679 679

Accumulated depreciation on disposals - - -

Elimination of accumulated depreciation - (679)                (679)

- - -

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2013 5,380 11,620 17,000

The business entered into a commercial in confidence agreement on 18 July 2013 to dispose of the land and building  
in relation to our head office premises with the settlement occurring on 18 September 2013.

Capital Gains Tax (CGT) has not been taken into account in determining the carrying amounts of the land and building.  
The land and buildings were acquired before CGT was introduced.  The economic entity is not liable to pay CGT except  
with respect to building refurbishments since the introduction of CGT. 

Consolidated Entity Leasehold Furniture & 
Fittings

Computer &  
Office equipment

Motor Vehicles System 
Development

Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Opening Value 6,760 3,649 20,504 649 12,666 44,228

Additions at cost - 22 2,686 43 2,011 4,762

Disposals at cost - - (627) (62) - (689)

Revaluation of asset - - - - - -

Elimination of accumulated depreciation - - - - - -

6,760 3,671 22,563 630 14,677 48,301

Opening accumulated depreciation 2,893 2,230 18,053 407 10,302 33,885

Depreciation for the year 482 185 1,353 96 639 2,755

Accumulated depreciation on disposals - - (473) (42) - (515)

Elimination of accumulated depreciation - - - - - -

3,375 2,415 18,933 461 10,941 36,125

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2014 3,385 1,256 3,630 169 3,736 12,176

Capital WIP additions 16,119

28,295

Note 8. Property, plant, and equipment
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Consolidated Entity Leasehold Furniture & 
Fittings

Computer &  
Office equipment

Motor Vehicles System 
Development

Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2013

Opening Value 4,310 3,114 18,735 855 10,048 37,062

Additions at cost 2,450 535 1,769 63 2,618 7,435

Disposals at cost - - - (269) - (269)

6,760 3,649 20,504 649 12,666 44,228

Opening accumulated depreciation 2,391 1,987 16,737 459 10,048 31,622

Depreciation for the year 502 243 1,316 132 254 2,447

Accumulated depreciation on disposals - - - (184) - (184)

2,893 2,230 18,053 407 10,302 33,885

Net Book Value as at 30 June 2013 3,867 1,419 2,451 242 2,364 10,343

Capital WIP additions 2,822

13,165

Note 9. Payables (current)

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Trade creditors, unsecured 1,433 2,223

Other creditors, unsecured 5,607 4,465

Staffing costs and packages 1,679 1,613

Unearned revenue 855 945

Total current payables 9,574 9,246

The average credit period for trade creditors is 30 days. No interest is charged on other payables unless State Trustees Limited is in breach  
of our contractual agreements.

Terms and conditions of trade creditors vary according to contractual agreements with that creditor.

Note 8. Property, plant, and equipment (cont.)
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Note 10. Provisions

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Current Provisions

Current Onerous lease contracts 79 142

Current Employee entitlements

Annual leave

  Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 1,981 2,035

  Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 341 245

Long Service Leave

  Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months 530 542

  Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months 3,179 3,255

Total Current Employee entitlements 6,031 6,077

Non-current Provisions

Non-Current Onerous lease contracts 20 223

Non-Current Employee entitlements (Long Service Leave) 1,084 1,195

Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. It includes on-costs such  
as payroll tax and workers compensation insurance.

Annual leave that is expected to settle after 12 months and Long service leave are measured at present value.

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Movements in Onerous Lease Contracts Provision

Opening Balance 365 37

Additional provisions recognised - 393

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future economic benefits (266) (65)

Total Onerous Lease Contracts Provision 99 365

A provision has been created to recognise onerous leases in relation to leasehold premises.  
The business no longer conducts operations from these locations.
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Note 11. Contributed equity

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Share capital

Ordinary shares

(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2013: 12,461,664) 12,462 12,462

Contribution from Owners 4,899 4,899

Total Share Capital 17,361 17,361

The entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. This entitles the holder  
to receive dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the company that is in proportion to the number of, and amounts  
paid on, the shares held. 

Note 12. Reserves
Asset Revaluation Reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements in the fair value of land and buildings  
to the extent that they offset one another.

During the financial year, the company disposed of the land and buildings of 168 Exhibition Street, Melbourne.  
The asset revaluation reserve was eliminated on the settlement of the sale of the above property with the balance  
transferred to retained earnings.

General Reserve

Consolidated Entity Reserve Fund General Reserve

(Trustee Companies Act) (ASIC / RG 166 Requirements) Total

$000s $000s $000s

2014

Opening Balance at start of financial year 9,418 - 9,418

Profits transferred to/from General Reserve (85) 7,879 7,794

Closing Balance at the end of the financial year 9,333 7,879 17,212

2013

Opening Balance at start of financial year 9,647 - 9,647

Profits transferred to/from General Reserve (229) - (229)

Closing Balance at the end of the financial year 9,418 - 9,418
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General Reserve – Reserve Fund (Trustee Companies Act) ($9,333)

Under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of the value  
of company-managed trust estates in Victoria must be provided (refer to Note 19). In the event that a liquidator,  
receiver or manager is appointed, reserve fund monies are to be paid from the trustee company according to Section 39(3) 
of the Act. Section 38 of the Act requires the company to place assets into a reserve fund. These assets must be managed 
consistent with requirements of the Trustee Act 1958.

On 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994,  
the corpus amounts held by Common Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State Trustees Limited  
and transferred to a general reserve. The movement in the general reserve reflects a transfer of $85k to Retained  
Profits in 2014 (2013: transfer of $229k to Retained Profits).

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Assets comprising the Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act

Land and building: Note 7 - 17,000

*Short term money market deposits at call: Note 5 18,100 -

Total Assets comprising the Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act 18,100 17,000

Reserve fund requirements 9,333 9,418

Surplus 8,767 7,582

Note: Short term money market deposits at call for 2013 ($10.7m) were not required to support this reserve  
due to the Land and Buildings.

General Reserve – ASIC / RG166 

State Trustees Limited has various financial requirements imposed by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) 
in relation to our Australian Financial Services Licence. 

This reserve was created during 2013/14 with the transfer of $7.879m from Retained Profits.

State Trustees Limited  has established a reserve account to isolate our ASIC regulatory requirements.  
These financial requirements are:

• Net tangible assets;

• Surplus liquid funds;

• Adjusted surplus liquid funds; and

• A buffer for the adjusted surplus liquid funds.

As at 30 June we are compliant with our Australian Financial Services Licence financial requirements.
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Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Operating lease commitments 

Not later than one year 4,070 2,575

Later than one year but not later than five years 15,568 15,306

Later than five years 58,208 61,534

Operating lease commitments 77,846 79,415

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows

Not later than one year 373 380

Later than one year but not later than five years 1,256 875

Later than five years 2,747 239

Operating expenditure commitments 4,376 1,494

Note 13. Commitments

The operating lease commitments reflect our lease obligations for leasehold premises. This includes the Little  
Bourke Street, Dandenong, Bendigo, Footscray, Glen Waverley and Exhibition Street leases over the non-optional  
lease period. Each lease has agreed annual increases that have been factored into the commitment and no lease  
is subject to market reviews in the non-optional lease period. There are no purchase options, or escalation clauses  
and lease renewals are subject to mutual agreement by all parties.

The operating expenditure contracted for represents the outgoings for our leasehold premises payable to the landlords  
for all premises. 2014 incremental (against 2013) is a result of the new leased premises at Footscray.

The capital expenditure for 2014 represents future purchases which the business has entered into in relation  
to the fit-out of our new office premises in Footscray, Information Technology system enhancements.

Capital expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:

Not later than one year 1,882 14,399

Later than one year but not later than five years - 1,128

Later than five years - -

Capital expenditure commitments 1,882 15,527

Note 14. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
Contingent assets: Nil (2013: Nil)

Contingent liabilities: Nil (2013: Nil)
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Note 16. Controlled entities

The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2014 include the following controlled entities.  
The financial year of the controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

Controlled 
entity

Place of 
incorporation

Type of shares Book value of parent entity’s 
investment in $

% of shares held Contribution to the results in $000s

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

STL Financial 
Services 
Limited

Australia Ordinary 5.2m 5.2m 100 100 219 304

STL Financial Services Limited has $5.2m of paid up capital which has historically supported  
the Australian Financial Services Licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets.  
This licence was cancelled on 5 June 2014. The State of Victoria is State Trustees Limited’s ultimate parent.

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Reconciliation of net cash inflow from net profit after tax to net cash provided by operating activities

Net profit after income tax 3,673 1,092

Add back/(subtract) non cash flows in operating result

• Loss/(gain) on sale of Property, Plant & Equipment 189 12

• Depreciation and amortisation expense 2,911 3,126

• Provision for Doubtful Debts 83 (7)

• Unrealised Loss/(Gain) on corporate investments (296) (348)

Changes in assets and liabilities

• Increase/(decrease) in Income Tax Equivalent Payable (874) (190)

• Decrease/(increase) in Deferred Taxes 1,036 477

• Increase/(decrease) in Employee Entitlements (157) (803)

• Decrease/(increase) in Trade and Other Receivables 1,888 19

• Decrease/(increase) in Prepayments and Other Assets (215) 658

Increase/(decrease) in Trade and Other Creditors (8) 3,531

Net cash inflow from operating activities 8,230 7,567

Note 15. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
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Information relating to State Trustees Limited: 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Current assets 30,849 43,903

Non-current assets 37,686 22,214

Total assets 68,535 66,117

Current liabilities 16,900 15,784

Non-current liabilities 1,165 2,018

Total liabilities  18,065 17,802

Issued capital 17,361 17,361

Retained earnings 15,897 9,418

Asset revaluation reserve - 12,941

General reserve 17,212 8,595

Total shareholders’ equity 50,470 48,315

Profit or loss of the parent entity 3,453 789

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity 3,453 (210)

Note 17. Parent Entity Information - State Trustees Limited

State Trustees Limited (parent entity) has entered into the operating lease commitments, operating expenditure  
commitments and capital expenditure commitments as disclosed in Note 13 of these financial statements.

Note 18. Economic dependency
A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Service Agreement.  
A three year agreement has been agreed and signed by both parties until 30 June 2016. This contract is between  
State Trustees Limited and the Department of Human Services (refer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income). 

State Trustees Limitied has entered into a regional funding agreement with the State of Victoria via the Department of Treasury 
and Finance. The funding arrangement is in the form of capital contributions to fund capital expenditure and government grant 
income to fund operational and transitional expenditure. The value of the funding arrangement is a maximum of $12.6m.  
This funding agreement was finalised during the 2012/13 financial year, with a cumulative project total of $9.9m. 
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Note 19. Related party disclosures

Key management personnel

State Trustees Limited’s key management personnel include the Directors and those executives reporting  
directly to the Chief Executive Officer.

Directors

The following persons held the position of company Director during the past financial year:

Income Band Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2014 2013 2014 2013

No. No. No. No.

$20,000 - $29,999 2 - 2 -

$30,000 - $39,999 4 5 4 5

$60,000 - $69,999 1 1 1 1

$210,000 - $219,999 - - 1 -

$320,000 - $329,999 - - - 1

$380,000 - $389,999 - 1 - -

$450,000 - $459,999 1 - - -

Total number of Directors 8 7 8 7

Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)* 0.7 1.7 0.7 1.7

Total amount** $704,041 $636,706 $465,469 $558,187 

* Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a reporting period. 
** Included in the total remuneration for 2014 is an exit payment relating to Anthony Fitzgerald’s departure on 31 December 2013.

The remuneration of the Company Directors is tabled below.

The following persons held executive positions during the past financial year:

Craig Dent Chief Executive Officer (formerly General Manager, Client Services) from 3 December 2013

Angela Burton General Manager, Operations

Geoff Purcell Chief Information Officer, Information Services

John Brennan General Manager, Strategy, Innovation and Transformation

Michelle Johnston General Manager, People and Culture

Paul Manning Chief Financial Officer from 31 December 2013

Melanie Lewis General Manager, Client Services

Prue Willsford General Manager, Corporate Operations (ceased 30 September 2013)

Anthony Fitzgerald Managing Director (ceased 31 December 2013)

Dino Georgiou (Chairman) 
1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

Julie Elliott   
1 July 2013 to 4 June 2014

Christopher Robert Martin 
27 August 2013 to 30 June 2014

Lindsay Smith 
1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

Pam Mitchell 
3 December 2013 to 30 June 2014

Patrick Burroughs 
1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014

Sue O’Connor 
3 December 2013 to 30 June 2014

Anthony (Tony) Fitzgerald* 
1 July 2013 to 31 December 2013

*  Anthony Fitzgerald was the Managing Director as well as a member of the executive and all of his remuneration is included  
in the remuneration of Company Directors tabled below. State Trustees Limited moved to a new governance structure and appointed  
Craig Dent as Chief Executive Officer on 3 December 2013. The remuneration for Craig Dent is included in the remuneration  
of the key executives tabled on the following page. 
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Income Band Total Remuneration Base Remuneration

2014 2013 2014 2013

No. No. No. No.

$70,000 - $79,999 - - 1 1

$110,000 - $119,999 - - 1 -

$120,000 - $129,999 1 - 2 -

$140,000 - $149,999 1 - - -

$150,000 - $159,999 1 - - -

$160,000 - $169,999 - - - 1

$180,000 - $189,999 - - - 1

$190,000 - $199,999 - 1 - -

$210,000 - $219,999 - - - 1

$220,000 - $229,999 - 1 1 1

$230,000 - $239,999 1 - - 2

$250,000 - $259,999 1 - 1 -

$260,000 - $269,999 - - 1 -

$270,000 - $279,999 - 2 - -

$280,000 - $289,999 - 2 - -

$290,000 - $299,999 - 1 - -

$300,000 - $309,999 1 - 1 -

$330,000 - $339,999 1 - - -

$350,000 - $359,999 1 - - -

Total number of executives 8 7 8 7

Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)* 7.0 6.0 7.0 6.0

Total amount $1,921,459 $1,841,635 $1,489,413 $1,339,762 

* Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per week over the 52 weeks for a reporting period.

The remuneration of the key executives is tabled below.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

The principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. Remuneration  
is based on the Government Sector Employment Remuneration Panel (GSERP) framework. This is structured as a total employment 
cost package, delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the executives’ discretion. Executives receive 
no more than 80% of the Managing Director’s base salary (as determined by GSERP). In addition, they are offered short-term 
incentives to the maximum of 20% of total base remuneration.
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Workforce Data Disclosure

 Ongoing Employees Total Fixed Term

 Employees  
(headcount)

Full Time  
(headcount)

Part Time  
(headcount)

FTE FTE

Jun-13 475 391 84 444 30

Jun-14 414 345 69 390 38

All figures reflect active employees in the last full pay period 
of June each year.

Ongoing employees refers to people engaged on an open 
ended contract of employment and executives engaged  
on a standard executive contract who were active in the  
last full pay period of June.

FTE means full time equivalent.

Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent  
on secondment, external contractors/consultants,  
and temporary staff employed by employment agencies  
along with any staff on extended leave in the last pay period  
of June each year.

Transactions with STL Financial Services Limited

The parent entity entered into the following transactions during the financial year with its controlled entity.  
It advanced and repaid amounts on short-term inter-company accounts. These are repayable on demand.

Transactions with inveST Funds

Group Investments in the inveST Funds:

Consolidated  Entity Parent Entity

2014 2013 2014 2013

$000s $000s $000s $000s

Dividend payments received - - 273 216

Inter-company receivables - - - 173

Inter-company tax related receivables - - - 66

Consolidated  Entity Parent Entity

2014 2013 2014 2013

$000s $000s $000s $000s

inveST Diversified Income Fund 4,576 5,977 1,092 1,078

inveST Australian Equity Fund 2,476 1,828 514 457

Total investment in inveST funds 7,052 7,805 1,606 1,535

Fees and Commissions received from

inveST Funds 4,977* 4,998 4,977 4,998

Common Funds 5,055** 4,498 5,055 4,498

Total fees and commissions 10,032 9,496 10,032 9,496

All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.

*Fees & Commissions exclude net GST (GST less Reduced Input Tax Credits) of $137k 
**Fees & Commissions include fees from Public Trustee of Tasmania of $127k, and excludes net GST of $48k 

State Trustees Limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the inveST Funds.  
State Trustees Limited received fees in its capacity as Manager and Trustee of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds. 

Directors’ interests 

There are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.
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Consolidated  Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets 874,807 945,678

Client investments in Common Funds 991,723 937,915

Total Assets under Management and Trusteeship 1,866,530 1,883,593

Consolidated  Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

- Audit or review of the financial statements 154 194

Total remuneration* 154 194

Note 20. Client assets under management and trusteeship
Total client assets under management and trusteeship were as follows. These amounts are not reflected  
in the Statement of Financial Position as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.

Note 21. Remuneration of auditors

Note 22. Financial instruments

Objectives and policies

State Trustees Limited’s principal financial  
instruments comprise:

• cash and deposits;

• receivables;

• investments in managed investment schemes;

• advances to clients; and

• payables.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods 
adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis  
of measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses 
are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, 
financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed  
in Note 1 to the financial statements.

*Total remuneration includes remuneration paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor, Victorian Auditor General’s Office (VAGO), of the parent entity  
and its controlled entities. VAGO have been able to reduce their audit fees from 2013.

During the year, the auditors (VAGO) were paid for auditing the Common Funds and inveST Funds where State Trustees  
Limited acts as trustee and responsible entity. The total amount due and payable was $268k (2013: $303k), 
including the $154k disclosed above.

During the year, the audit service provider, (VAGO) was paid for auditing the State Trustees Australia Foundation  
and State Trustees Australia Foundation Open Fund where State Trustees Limited acts as Trustee. The total amount  
due and payable was $31k (2013: $25k). These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.

During the year, the audit service provider (VAGO) was paid for auditing the Residents Trust Fund where State Trustees  
Limited acts as Fund Manager and Trustee. The total amount due and payable was $13k (2013: $13k).  
These expenses are included in Note 3: Other Expenses – Corporate.
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Financial risk management

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash  
and short-term deposits and financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. The financial instruments’ main purpose 
is to generate a return on the Group’s investments. The Group 
has various other financial instruments such as receivables 
and accounts payable that arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments 
are interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk, and liquidity  
and cash flow risk. 

These risks are measured using a method that reflects  
the expected impact on the results from reasonably possible 
changes in the relevant risk variables. Information about these 
risk exposures at the reporting date, measured on this basis,  
is disclosed below. Information about the total fair value  
of financial instruments exposed to risk, as well as compliance 
with established investment mandate limits, is also monitored 
by Management and the Investment Committee and reported 
on a monthly basis.

Categorisation of financial instruments

Consolidated Entity Contractual 
financial assets/

liabilities 
designated at fair 

value through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial assets/

liabilities held-
for-trading at fair 

value through 
profit/loss

Contractual 
financial 
assets – 

loans and 
receivables

Contractual 
financial assets – 

available-for-sale

Contractual 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Total 

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Contractual Financial assets

Cash and deposits - - 19,537 - - 19,537

Receivables - - 7,784 - - 7,784

Advances to clients - - 2,275 - - 2,275

Interests in inveST Funds

> Diversified Income 4,576 - - - - 4,576

> Australian Equity 2,476 - - - - 2,476

7,052 - 29,596 - - 36,648

Contractual Financial liabilities

Accounts payable - - - - 5,249 5,249

- - - - 5,249 5,249

2013

Contractual Financial assets

Cash and deposits - - 12,149 - - 12,149

Receivables - - 9,845 - - 9,845

Advances to clients - - 3,025 - - 3,025

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 5,977 - - - - 5,977

> Australian Equity 1,828 - - - - 1,828

7,805 25,019 32,824

Contractual Financial liabilities

Accounts payable - - - - 6,688 6,688

- - - - 6,688 6,688
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Consolidated Entity
Net holding 
gain / (loss)

Total interest 
income / 

(expense)

Fee income / 
(expense)

Impairment 
Loss

Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Contractual Financial assets

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit/loss 557 - - - 557

Financial assets – loans and receivables - 737 - - 737

Financial assets available-for-sale recognised in net result - - - - -

Financial assets available-for-sale recognised in other 
comprehensive result

- - - - -

557 737 - - 1,294

Contractual Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - -

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit/loss - - - - -

- - - - -

2013

Contractual Financial assets

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit/loss 465 - - - 465

Financial assets – loans and receivables - 455 - - 455

Financial assets available-for-sale recognised in net result - - - - -

Financial assets available-for-sale recognised in other 
comprehensive result

- - - - -

465 455 - - 920

Contractual Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost - - - - -

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit/loss - - - - -

- - - - -

Net holding gain / (loss) on financial instruments
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Interest rate exposure of financial instruments

Consolidated Entity Interest Rate Exposure

Weighted Average 
Interest Rate %

Carrying Amount Fixed Interest Rate Variable Interest 
Rate

Non-Interest 
Bearing

$000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 2.80% 19,537 - 19,534 3

Receivables Nil 7,784 - - 7,784

Advances to clients 3.23% 2,275 - 2,275 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income Nil 4,576 - - 4,576

> Australian Equity Nil 2,476 - - 2,476

36,648 - 21,809 14,839

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable Nil 5,249 - - 5,249

5,249 - - 5,249

2013

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 3.20% 12,149 - 12,146 3

Receivables Nil 9,845 - - 9,845

Advances to clients 3.39% 3,025 - 3,025 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income Nil 5,977 - - 5,977

> Australian Equity Nil 1,828 - - 1,828

32,824 - 15,174 17,650

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable Nil 6,688 - - 6,688

6,688 - - 6,688

Interest rate risk exposures

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cashflows or the fair values  
of financial instruments. The Group has established limits on investments in interest bearing assets, which are monitored weekly.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short term deposits as disclosed in Note 5. The Group has  
no borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Incomes to a reasonably  
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.

The sensitivity of the Statement of Comprehensive Income is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on:

•  The interest income for one year, based on the floating rate cash and cash equivalent financial assets held at 30 June 2014.
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Accounting Assumptions - Variability of interest rates

The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in interest rates over the past 10 years.

Consolidated Entity - 100 basis points + 100 basis points

Carrying Amount Net Result
Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

Net Result
Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 19,537 (218) - 218 -

Total impact 19,537 (218) - 218 -

2013

Contractual financial assets

Cash and deposits 12,149 (152) - 152 -

Total impact 12,149 (152) - 152 -

The amounts above are before the impact of income tax.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes  
in foreign exchange rates. There is no significant direct foreign exchange risk exposure to the Group. 

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk involves counterparties’ failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the Group  
to incur financial losses. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised primarily by ensuring:

•  Transactions are undertaken with a diverse range of counterparties, a large amount with the Victorian Department  
of Human Services.

•  A majority of transactions are undertaken with clients under our administration.

In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad debts has not been 
significant. There is no material exposure to a group of counterparties that is expected to be affected similarly by changes  
in economic or other conditions. The carrying amount of financial assets that is recorded in the financial statements represents  
the maximum exposure to credit risk.

Allowance for impairment loss

Receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 - 60 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised when there  
is objective evidence that an individual receivable is impaired. A provision for impairment loss of $89k (2013: $6k) has been 
recognised by the Group.

Consolidated Entity 2014 2013

$000s $000s

At 1 July 6 13

Charge for the year 319 29

Amounts written off or reversed (236) (36)

At  30 June 89 6

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:
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At 30 June, the ageing analysis of receivables is as follows:

Total 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days +91 days

2014 Consolidated 7,784 7,375 74 49 286

2013 Consolidated 9,845 9,317 94 28 406

Other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these other  
balances will be received when due. The receivables will be realised when the business finalises the relevant client files.  
The majority of these relate to Deceased Estates products which are still open, but are waiting on further actions  
(which include legal related issues) to be finalised with outstanding liabilities to be settled.

Liquidity and cash flow risk

Liquidity risk is the risk in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments  
associated with the entity’s operations. Cash flow risk relates to the fluctuations in future cash flows from holding  
financial instruments. Risk management guidelines adopted that are designed to minimise liquidity and cash flow risk are:

•  Ensuring substantial cash reserves are held by the entity with major Australian banks;

•  Ensuring there is no significant exposure to illiquid or thinly-traded financial instruments; and

•  Applying limits to ensure that there is no concentration of liquidity risk to a particular counterparty or market.

Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities based on management’s expectations

To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks  
State Trustees Limited monitors risk through reporting that reflects management’s expectations of future settlement  
of financial assets and liabilities.  The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view  
of cash inflows and outflows.  

Consolidated Entity <1 months  1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years >5 years Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 19,537 - - - - 19,537

Receivables 7,739 6 39 7,784

Advances to clients 1,220 535 520 - - 2,275

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 4,576 - - - - 4,576

> Australian Equity 2,476 - - - - 2,476

35,548 541 559 - - 36,648

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 5,249 - - - - 5,249

5,249 - - - - 5,249
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Consolidated Entity <1 months  1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years >5 years Total

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2013

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 12,149 - - - - 12,149

Receivables 9,836 5 4 - - 9,845

Advances to clients 1,856 378 791 - - 3,025

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 5,977 - - - - 5,977

> Australian Equity 1,828 - - - - 1,828

31,646 383 795 - - 32,824

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 6,688 - - - - 6,688

6,688 - - - - 6,688

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity 
analysis, and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate 
limits and investment strategies. This risk exposure is managed by diversifying investments and managing to a conservative  
asset allocation model. Financial investments in growth assets (exposure to listed domestic equities through investment  
in managed investment schemes) are 15% and financial investments in defensive assets (exposure to cash and fixed interest 
through investments in managed investment schemes and cash deposits with financial institutions) are 85%. State Trustees 
Limited is indirectly exposed to market risk by holding units in the inveST Funds. The performance of the inveST Funds  
due to the market risk can impact upon the distributions received from our unit holdings, the underlying value of these unit 
holdings as well as the fees earned from State Trustees Limited being the responsible entity of the funds.

Equity price risk
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, whether those  
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual stock or broader economic factors affecting equity markets  
as a whole. Equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in Managed Investment Schemes.

The effect on the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive Income due to reasonably  
possible changes in market factors (as represented by the equity indices) with all other variables held constant,  
is indicated in the tables on the following page.

Accounting Assumptions - Variability of equity price
The basis points sensitivity is based on the volatility of change in the respective benchmark indices over the last 10 years.
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Consolidated Entity - 2.7% + 2.7%

Carrying 
Amount

Net Result Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

Net Result Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2014

inveST Diversified Income Fund  
(UBS Australian Composite Bond Index) 4,576 (124) - 124 -

- 13.5% + 13.5%

inveST Australian Equity Fund  
(S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Fund) 2,476 (334) - 334 -

Total impact 7,052 (458) - 458 -

Consolidated Entity - 2.8% + 2.8%

Carrying 
Amount

Net Result Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

Net Result Available - for - sale 
revaluation surplus

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s

2013

inveST Diversified Income Fund  
(UBS Australian Composite Bond Index) 5,977 (167) - 167 -

- 13.4% + 13.4%

inveST Australian Equity Fund  
(S&P ASX 100 Leaders Accumulation Fund) 1,828 (245) - 245 -

Total impact 7,805 (412) - 412 -

The amounts above are before the impact of income tax.

Fair value

The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments  
by valuation technique:

Level 1:  the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and traded in active liquid  
markets are determined with reference to quoted prices.

Level 2:  the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the financial  
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3:  the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted  
cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

State Trustees Limited considers the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and liabilities recorded  
in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values because of the short-term nature  
of the financial instruments and the expectation that they will be paid in full.

The following table shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same  
as the carrying amounts.

Your interests at heart 5 1



Consolidated Entity Carrying Amount 2014 Fair Value 2014 Carrying Amount 2013 Fair Value 2013

$000s $000s $000s $000s

Financial assets

Cash and deposits 19,537 19,537 12,149 12,149

Receivables 7,784 7,784 9,845 9,845

Advances to clients 2,275 2,275 3,025 3,025

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 4,576 4,576 5,977 5,977

> Australian Equity 2,476 2,476 1,828 1,828

36,648 36,648 32,824 32,824

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 5,249 5,249 6,688 6,688

5,249 5,249 6,688 6,688

Consolidated Entity Carrying Amount 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$000s $000s $000s $000s

30 June 2014

Financial assets

Advances to clients 2,275 - 2,275 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 4,576 - 4,576 -

> Australian Equity 2,476 - 2,476 -

9,327 - 9,327 -

Consolidated Entity Carrying Amount 2013 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$000s $000s $000s $000s

30 June 2013

Financial assets

Advances to clients 3,025 - 3,025 -

Interests in inveST Funds 

> Diversified Income 5,977 - 5,977 -

> Australian Equity 1,828 - 1,828 -

10,830 - 10,830 -

During the reporting period ended 30 June 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.

During the reporting period ended 30 June 2013, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements.

The fair values of the Group’s investments in unlisted unit trusts are valued on balance date at the redemption price as published 
by the underlying Fund’s Responsible Entity.
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Debt securities (Advances to Clients)

In the absence of an active market, the fair value of the State Trustees Limited debt securities are valued using observable  
inputs such as recently executed transaction prices in securities of the issuer or comparable issuers and yield curves.  
Adjustments are made to the valuations when necessary to recognise differences in the instrument’s terms.  
To the extent that the significant inputs are observable, State Trustees Limited categorises these investments as Level 2.

Managed Investment Schemes

State Trustees Limited invests in managed funds which are not quoted in an active market and which may be subject  
to restrictions on redemptions such as lock up periods, redemption gates and side pockets.  

State Trustees Limited considers the valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing these funds as part of its due  
diligence prior to investment, to ensure they are reasonable and appropriate and therefore the net asset value (NAV)  
of these funds may be used as an input into measuring their fair value. In measuring this fair value, the NAV of the funds  
is adjusted, as necessary, to reflect restrictions and redemptions, future commitments and other specific factors of the fund.  
In measuring fair value, consideration is also paid to any transactions in the shares of the fund. Depending on the nature  
and level of adjustments needed to the NAV and the level of trading of State Trustees Limited, State Trustees Limited classifies 
these funds as either Level 2 or Level 3.

Note 23. Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions  
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgments  
and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases  
its judgments and estimates on historical experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under 
 the circumstances. The result of this forms the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily  
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgments,  
estimates and assumptions are made. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions  
and conditions and may materially affect financial results or the financial position reported in future periods.  
Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

Taxation

The Group's accounting policy for taxation requires management's judgment as to the types of arrangements  
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgment is also required in assessing whether  
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position.  
Deferred tax assets, including those arising from tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences are recognised  
only where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation  
of sufficient future taxable profits.

Bonus provision

The calculation of the bonus provision is comprised of three components:

• Executive contracts;

• Remuneration and benefit entitlements; and

•  In line with conditions outlined in the Enterprise Agreement 2010. 
Management bases its judgments and estimates on:

- Historical experience;

- Current financial and non financial performance; and

-  Other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.

 A portion of these estimates are yet to be approved by the Remuneration Committee.

Valuation of investments

The Group has designated the classification of investments in unlisted unit trusts at fair value through profit or loss.  
The respective movements in fair value are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The fair value  
of investments in unlisted unit trusts has been determined by reference to quoted redemption prices as reported  
by the manager of these investments.
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Note 24. Matters subsequent to the  
end of the financial year

Note 25. Statement of operations  
by segments

Note 26. Registered office

No circumstance has arisen that has affected or may 
significantly affect State Trustees Limited’s operations  
since 30 June 2014.

The consolidated entity provides trustee and related financial 
services and operates predominantly within Victoria.

State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  
Its registered office and principal place of business is:

30 June 2014  
168 Exhibition Street 
Melbourne, Victoria, 3000

from 21 July 2014 
1 McNab Avenue 
Footscray, Victoria 3011

Directors’ declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the Directors  
of State Trustees Limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a)  the financial statements and notes of the  
consolidated entity are in accordance with the  
Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

(b)  the financial statements and notes also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed  
in Note 2; and  

(c)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that State Trustees 
Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

On behalf of the Board

Dino Georgiou 
Chairman of Directors 
Melbourne, 28 August 2014

Patrick Burroughs 
Director
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Contact

Our registered office and principal place of business is, from 21 July 2014:

1 McNab Avenue, Footscray 3011

Customer Service Centres

Shop 4, 157 Lonsdale Street, Dandenong 3175

41 Edward Street, Bendigo 3550

ABN 68 064 593 148

AFSL No. 238037

 (03) 9667 6444

 1300 138 672 outside of metropolitan Melbourne area

 www.statetrustees.com.au  

 info@statetrustees.com.au

 @StateTrustees   

 company/StateTrustees
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